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Consolidated income 
statement

2023 2022
euros euros

1. Sales 179,158,932 182,905,357

2. Increase or decrease in work in progress 7,279,016 –9,672,460

3. Gross income 186,437,948 173,232,897

4. Other operating income 2,957,790 2,026,585

5. Cost of materials   

a) Cost of purchased goods –11,150 –56,672

b) Cost of purchased services –37,083,488 –31,030,319

  –37,094,638 –31,086,991

6. Personnel expenses   

a) Wages and salaries –95,171,256 –89,653,122

b) Social security and pension costs –18,339,053 –17,579,070

  –113,510,309 –107,232,192

7. Depreciation, amortisation and write-downs on intangible assets 
and property, plant and equipment

–2,131,977 –2,526,967

8. Other operating expenses –23,445,475 –22,868,113

9. Operating result/EBIT 13,213,338 11,545,219

10. Other interest and similar income 1,727,837 438,390

11. Other interest and similar income –172,953 –494,827

12. Taxes on income –2,879,477 –2,348,980

13. Earnings after taxes 11,888,745 9,139,802

14. Other taxes –7,655 –8,815

15. Net profit for the year 11,881,090 9,130,986

16. Loss carried forward –1,221,283 –10,352,270

17. Dividend payout –1,712,098 0

18. Retained earnings 8,947,709 –1,221,283
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Consolidated cash flow 
 statement

2023 2022
euros euros

 Result for the period 11,881,090 9,130,986

+ Depreciation and amortisation of fixed assets 2,131,977 2,526,967

+ Increase in provisions 530,248 68,107

– Other non-cash income –587 –5,153

– Increase in inventories, trade receivables and other assets not 
attributable to investing or financing activities

–1,645,673 –14,854,532

+/– Increase/decrease in trade payables and other liabilities not 
attributable to investing or financing activities

882,499 –268,679

+ Loss from the disposal of fixed assets 1,846 17

– Income from development grants –86,947 –90,547

+/– Interest expenses/interest income –1,192,146 204,283

+ Income tax expense 2,879,477 2,348,980

– Income tax payments –3,364,579 –1,231,793

= Cash flow from operating activities 12,017,204 –2,171,363

– Payments for investments in property, plant and equipment –2,119,634 –2,120,123

+/– Cash inflows/outflows due to financial investments as part of 
short-term financial management 

478,925 –1,873,333

– Payments for investments in financial assets –336,366 –5,000,000

+ Proceeds from disposals from the scope of consolidation 78,655 0

+/– Payments received/payments made for the acquisition or 
production of cover assets 

253,906 –30,111

+ Interest received 17,825 19,272

= Cash flow from investing activities –1,626,689 –9,004,295

+ Proceeds from subsidies received 86,947 90,547

– Interest paid –28,265 –84,405

– Dividends paid to shareholders of the parent company –1,712,098 0

= Cash flow from financing activities –1,653,417 6,142

 Cash-effective changes in cash and cash equivalents 8,737,098 –11,169,516

+ Changes in cash and cash equivalents due to exchange rates 18,754 187,910

+ Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 6,873,389 17,854,995

= Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 15,629,241 6,873,389
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Consolidated statement of 
 financial position

ASSETS 31.12.2023 31.12.2022
euros euros

A. Fixed assets   

I. Intangible assets   

1. Franchises, trademarks, patents, licences and similar rights 302,889 666,355

  302,889 666,355

II. Property, plant and equipment   

1. Land, leasehold rights and buildings, including buildings on 
third-party land

826,222 544,285

2. Other fixtures and fittings, tools and equipment 3,488,887 3,505,443

  4,315,109 4,049,728

III. Financial assets   

1. Loans to affiliated companies 5,000,000 5,000,000

2. Interest in associated companies 336,366 0

  5,336,366 5,000,000

  9,954,363 9,716,083

B. Current assets   

I. Inventories   

1. Work in progress 29,068,180 21,789,164

2. Advance payments 31,410,980 31,410,054

  60,479,159 53,199,218

3. Advance payments received on account of orders –59,616,261 –44,808,224

  862,898 8,390,995

II. Accounts receivable and other assets   

1. Trade receivables 50,635,509 41,259,193

2. Accounts due from affiliated companies 12,828,788 12,749,820

3. Other assets 1,299,794 1,310,307

  64,764,091 55,319,320

III. Marketable securities   

 Other marketable securities 25,318,177 26,725,856

 25,318,177 26,725,856

IV. Cash on hand, cash in banks and cheques 15,629,241 6,873,389

  106,574,408 97,309,560

C. Prepaid expenses and deferred income 3,994,037 4,265,039

Total assets 120,522,808 111,290,682
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LIABILITIES 31.12.2023 31.12.2022
euros euros

A. Shareholders’ equity  

I. Subscribed capital 42,802,453 42,802,453

II. Capital reserves 11,704,847 11,704,847

III. Revenue reserves   

1. Legal reserves 2,500 3,376

2. Other revenue reserves 11,786,545 11,786,545

  11,789,045 11,789,922

IV. Equity difference from foreign currency translation 2,312,206 3,259,537

V. Net retained profits 8,947,709 –1,221,283

  77,556,260 68,335,476

B. Provisions   

1. Provisions for pensions and similar obligations 7,196,956 7,304,038

2. Tax provisions 1,988,631 2,234,982

3. Other provisions 17,861,660 16,708,375

  27,047,247 26,247,394

C. Liabilities   

1. Trade payables 3,182,163 5,415,035

2. Liabilities to affiliated companies 6,093,300 5,099,223

3. Other liabilities 4,214,666 4,884,424

  13,490,129 15,398,682

D. Prepaid expenses and deferred income 2,429,172 1,309,130

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 120,522,808 111,290,682
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Consolidated statement 
of changes in equity

Consolidated statement of changes in equity 
2023

Parent company shareholders’ equity Group equity

Subscribed capital Capital reserves Revenue reserves Equity difference 
from foreign currency 

translation

Consolidated net 
retained profits / net 

accumulated losses

Total Total

Legal reserve Other revenue 
reserves

euros euros euros euros euros euros euros euros

As at 01.01.23 42,802,453 11,704,847 3,376 11,786,545 3,259,537 –1,221,283 68,335,476 68,335,476

Capital increase/reduction            0 0

Allocation to / withdrawal from reserves       0 0 

Distribution of dividends      –1,712,098 –1,712,098 –1,712,098

Currency translation     –947,331  –947,331 –947,331

Other changes       0 0 

Changes in the consolidation group   –876    –876 –876

Consolidated annual net income      11,881,090 11,881,090 11,881,090

As at 31.12.23 42,802,453 11,704,847 2,500 11,786,545 2,312,206 8,947,709 77,556,260 77,556,260

Consolidated statement of changes in equity  
2022

Parent company shareholders’ equity Group equity

Subscribed capital Capital reserves Revenue reserves Equity difference 
from foreign currency 

translation

Consolidated net 
retained profits / net 

accumulated losses

Total Total

Legal reserve Other revenue 
reserves

euros euros euros euros euros euros euros euros

As at 01.01.22 42,802,453 11,704,847 3,376 11,786,545 1,637,397 –10,352,270 57,582,348 57,582,348

Capital increase/reduction            0 0

Allocation to / withdrawal from reserves       0 0

Distribution of dividends       0 0 

Currency translation     1,622,140  1,622,140 1,622,140

Other changes       0 0

Changes in the consolidation group       0 0

Consolidated annual net income      9,130,987 9,130,987 9,130,987

As at 31.12.22 42,802,453 11,704,847 3,376 11,786,545 3,259,537 –1,221,283 68,335,475 68,335,475
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity 
2023

Parent company shareholders’ equity Group equity

Subscribed capital Capital reserves Revenue reserves Equity difference 
from foreign currency 

translation

Consolidated net 
retained profits / net 

accumulated losses

Total Total

Legal reserve Other revenue 
reserves

euros euros euros euros euros euros euros euros

As at 01.01.23 42,802,453 11,704,847 3,376 11,786,545 3,259,537 –1,221,283 68,335,476 68,335,476

Capital increase/reduction            0 0

Allocation to / withdrawal from reserves       0 0 

Distribution of dividends      –1,712,098 –1,712,098 –1,712,098

Currency translation     –947,331  –947,331 –947,331

Other changes       0 0 

Changes in the consolidation group   –876    –876 –876

Consolidated annual net income      11,881,090 11,881,090 11,881,090

As at 31.12.23 42,802,453 11,704,847 2,500 11,786,545 2,312,206 8,947,709 77,556,260 77,556,260

Consolidated statement of changes in equity  
2022

Parent company shareholders’ equity Group equity

Subscribed capital Capital reserves Revenue reserves Equity difference 
from foreign currency 

translation

Consolidated net 
retained profits / net 

accumulated losses

Total Total

Legal reserve Other revenue 
reserves

euros euros euros euros euros euros euros euros

As at 01.01.22 42,802,453 11,704,847 3,376 11,786,545 1,637,397 –10,352,270 57,582,348 57,582,348

Capital increase/reduction            0 0

Allocation to / withdrawal from reserves       0 0

Distribution of dividends       0 0 

Currency translation     1,622,140  1,622,140 1,622,140

Other changes       0 0

Changes in the consolidation group       0 0

Consolidated annual net income      9,130,987 9,130,987 9,130,987

As at 31.12.22 42,802,453 11,704,847 3,376 11,786,545 3,259,537 –1,221,283 68,335,475 68,335,475
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Notes

I. General remarks 

The msg life Group is a leading consulting and software company for the insurance 
and retirement savings market. Its software solutions primarily support life insur-
ance companies and pension fund institutions in Europe and in particular health 
and group insurance companies in the United States in the design, implementation 
and administration of their products. 

The headquarters of the msg life Group are at Humboldtstrasse 35, 70771 Leinfelden-
Echterdingen, Germany. msg life ag is a joint stock company in accordance with 
German law. It is listed in the commercial register of the Stuttgart District Court 
under HRB 731887. 

These consolidated financial statements of msg life ag, Leinfelden-Echterdingen, 
Germany (hereinafter referred to as ‘msg life ag’), as at 31 December 2023, encom-
pass the parent company and all of the subsidiaries (hereinafter referred to as the 
‘msg life Group’). The reporting year corresponds to the calendar year.

On 18 April 2024, the Management Board of msg life ag approved the consolidated 
financial statements for forwarding to the Supervisory Board, and therefore for 
publication. The Supervisory Board has the task of examining the consolidated 
financial statements and declaring whether it approves the consolidated financial 
statements. 

As it has not made use of the exemption in section 291, paragraph 1, of the Ger-
man Commercial Code (HGB), the company is obliged to prepare consolidated 
financial statements pursuant to section 290 of the HGB. As at 31 December 2023, 
the company prepared consolidated financial statements and its condensed 
management report and Group management report in accordance with German 
GAAP pursuant to section 290 et seq. of the HGB and section 150 et seq. of the 
German Stock Corporation Act (AktG). 

For reasons of clarity and comprehensibility, all legally prescribed annotations 
in relation to items in the consolidated statement of financial position and the 
consolidated income statement are shown in the notes.

The consolidated income statement was prepared according to the total-cost method.

The reporting currency is the euro, and the rounding is done to thousands or millions 
of euros. This can give rise to rounding differences of up to one arithmetical unit.

The consolidated financial statements are sent electronically to the office that 
keeps the register of companies for entry into the register of companies. As at the 
reporting date, msg life ag is an indirect subsidiary of msg group GmbH, Ismaning, 
which prepares the consolidated financial statements for the largest number of 
Group companies.

On 25 September 2020, msg life ag, Leinfelden-Echterdingen, and msg systems 
ag, Ismaning, signed a control agreement, which was amended on 6 November 
2020. The annual general meetings of msg life ag and msg systems approved this 
control agreement on 10 November 2020 and 18 November 2020 respectively. The 
control agreement took effect as of 1 January 2021 when it was entered in the com-
mercial register for msg life ag at the Stuttgart District Court on 20 January 2021. 
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With regard to the economic sanctions in connection with the Russian invasion of 
Ukraine in February 2022, msg life still does not expect any material impact on the 
operating or economic development of the company – including with regard to the 
development of its business with new and existing customers and its project busi-
ness in the 2024 financial year so far. The same applies to the Covid-19 pandemic, 
which has now come to an end. At this point, we also refer to the corresponding 
statements in the opportunity and risk report of the condensed management and 
Group management report for the 2023 financial year.

msg life ag and the msg Group company msg nexinsure ag, Ismaning, have been 
working closely together for many years in the context of the joint solution msg.
Insurance Suite. The two companies have had a management team with unified 
responsibilities since 2021. Additionally, msg life and msg nexinsure are sharing 
the co-brand msg insur:it in the insurance market and underlining their leading 
role as a provider of insurance products. The co-brand msg insur:it notwithstand-
ing, msg life and msg nexinsure will remain independent legal units.  

II. General accounting and valuation methods

The annual financial statements of the subsidiaries included in the consolidated 
financial statements and of the parent company are prepared according to the 
following accounting and valuation methods and in compliance with the statu-
tory requirements:

Intangible assets acquired for valuable consideration are valued at original cost less 
depreciation according to the straight-line method, with a useful life of between 
three and 15 years. If it is likely to be permanently impaired, it is written down. As 
at 31 December 2023, the goodwill had already been written down in full.

The company has opted not to recognise internally generated intangible fixed as-
sets pursuant to section 248, paragraph 2, sentence 1, of the HGB.

Fixed assets are carried at original cost, less regular straight-line depreciation in 
the case of depreciable assets. The useful lives are between three and ten years. 
Depreciable movable fixed assets that can be used independently and whose (net) 
costs per individual item exceed 250 euros, but not 800 euros, qualify as low-value 
assets and are immediately recognised as expenses in the year of acquisition. 

Assets with a cost of less than 250 euros are recognised as expenses.

Loans are recognised at their nominal value.

Inventories are measured at historical cost. Apart from the unit costs, the costs 
of production also include an appropriate proportion of the overhead costs and 
write-downs. The loss-free valuation rule is observed. Work contracts which extend 
across multiple financial years are treated as work in progress until the milestone 
is delivered, fully or in part, to the customer. Advance payments received on ac-
count of orders are written off openly from inventories.

Accounts receivable and other assets are valued at their face value as a matter of 
principle. Receivables with terms exceeding one year are deducted. A lump-sum 
valuation adjustment amounting to 0.5 per cent of the net accounts receivable is 
established for the general credit risk and to cover loss of interest, provided that 
no payments on account have been made.

Marketable securities are recognised at the lower of historical cost or fair value 
on the reporting date.
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Cash in hand, bank balances and cheques are recognised at their nominal amount.

Foreign currency transactions are converted by Group companies on the date on 
which the transaction is first recognised at the mean spot exchange rate appli-
cable in the month of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities in a foreign 
currency are converted at every reporting date in accordance with section 256a, 
sentence 2, of the HGB, using the mean spot exchange rate on the relevant report-
ing date. Differences arising from the settlement or conversion of monetary items 
are recognised in profit or loss. 

The asset and liability items of foreign business operations (with the exception 
of equity) are converted into euros within the scope of consolidation at the mean 
spot exchange rate on the respective reporting date in accordance with section 
308a of the HGB. Income and expenses are converted at the average exchange 
rates for the month. Exchange rate volatility and seasonal influences are not taken 
into account due to immateriality. Any resulting conversion difference is reported 
in Group equity in the item provided for this purpose. Exchange rate-related differ-
ences in the context of receivables and payables and elimination of intercompany 
profit and loss are also recognised in profit or loss for reasons of simplification.

As accruals, expenses are recognised prior to the reporting date in so far as they 
represent expenses for a defined period after the reporting date.

Subscribed capital is recognised at its nominal value.

Provisions for pensions and similar obligations are measured on the basis of 
actuarial calculations carried out using the projected unit credit method and 
with consideration for the 2018 G mortality tables from Professor Heubeck or the 
BVG 2015 generation tables. The provisions for pensions and other obligations 
are discounted at the average market interest rate for the preceding ten years 
published by the German Central Bank for an assumed remaining term of 15 years. 

Tax provisions have been set up to the amount of the anticipated tax burden (the 
settlement amount). 

The other provisions are valued at the settlement amount allowing for all discern-
ible risks, expected risks and anticipated increases in prices and costs. Provisions 
with terms exceeding one year are subject to the deduction of an average market 
rate of interest for the last seven years that is appropriate for the term of each 
provision as determined by the German Central Bank (Deutsche Bundesbank). 
The provision for severance payments is measured using the projected unit credit 
method. An actuarial interest rate of 1.13 per cent (previous year: 0.97 per cent 
p.a.) and a salary increase rate of 2.67 per cent (previous year: 2.32 per cent p.a.) 
were used in the calculation on each key date.

Liabilities are valued at the settlement amount on the statement of financial 
position date.

Advance payments received on account of orders are recognised at their net value. 
The company has made use of the option provided by section 268, paragraph 5, 
sentence 2, of the HGB to openly deduct payments received on account of inven-
tories from the line item ‘Inventories’ on the assets side. 

Income received prior to the reporting date is recognised under accruals and de-
ferrals as long as it represents revenue for a specific time after the reporting date.
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The deferred taxes are calculated in line with the temporary concept. According to 
the temporary concept, deferred taxes are formed for all temporary and virtually 
permanent accounting and measurement differences between the values of assets 
and liabilities recognised under commercial and tax law. 

When the deferred tax assets are determined, deferred tax assets on losses carried 
forward must be taken into account in the amount of the offset of losses that is to 
be expected within the next five years. Accordingly, no deferred tax assets were 
recognised for tax losses on 31 December 2023, taking their realisability into account. 

The deferred taxes are determined on the basis of the tax rates which apply or are 
expected as per the current legal position in the individual countries at the time 
of realisation. The impact of changes in tax rates on deferred taxes will be posted 
through profit and loss when the change in the law comes into force.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are set off against each other.

III. Consolidation group

1. Subsidiaries and associates

Subsidiaries are companies over which msg life ag has a direct or indirect con-
trolling influence. msg life ag has a controlling influence over another company 
when it holds the majority of the voting rights directly or indirectly and has the 
means of controlling it. 

Inclusion in the consolidated financial statements begins at the point in time from 
which the possibility of control exists and ends when the possibility of control 
ceases to exist.

As at 31 December 2023, the following companies were fully consolidated in the 
Group headed by msg life ag as parent company:

Company Shareholding 
%

Abbreviations

msg life central europe gmbh 1 100 (msg life central europe)

with the subsidiary msg life Slovakia s.r.o., Bratislava (Slovakia) 3 100 (msg life Slovakia)

with the subsidiary msg life Switzerland AG, Zurich (Switzerland) 3 100 (msg life Switzerland)

with the subsidiary msg life Austria Ges.m.b.H., Vienna (Austria) 3 100 (msg life Austria)

with the subsidiary msg life Benelux B.V., Amsterdam (Netherlands) 3 100 (msg life Netherlands)

msg life global gmbh 1, 2 100 (msg life global)

with the subsidiary FJA-US, Inc., New York (USA) 4 100 (FJA-US)

with the subsidiary msg life Iberia, Unipessoal LDA, Porto (Portugal) 4 100 (msg life Portugal)

1 There are profit and loss transfer agreements with msg life central europe gmbh, Munich, and msg life global gmbh, Munich.
2 98.11 per cent of the shares in msg life global gmbh, Munich, are held by msg life ag, Leinfelden-Echterdingen, and 1.89 per cent are held by msg life central europe gmbh, Munich. 
3 This is an indirect equity interest. The shares are held by msg life central europe gmbh, Munich.
4 This is an indirect equity interest. The shares are held by msg life global gmbh, Munich.

The change in the composition of the consolidation group in 2023 is due to the 
sale of msg life odateam d.o.o., Maribor (Slovenia) to the msg Group company 
msg Plaut AG, Vienna (Austria). The economic transfer of the company took place 
with effect from 1 January 2023, meaning that the company is no longer part of the 
consolidation group of the msg life Group from the 2023 financial year onwards. 
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Under the purchase agreement dated 15 December 2023, the Group company msg 
life central europe gmbh acquired a 25.1 per cent stake in Cominia Aktuarielle 
Services GmbH, Hamburg.

For all subsidiaries and associates, the reporting dates are the same as the report-
ing dates for the consolidated financial statements.

msg life central europe gmbh, Munich, and msg life global gmbh, Munich, have 
made full use of the exemption in section 264, paragraph 3, of the HGB for the 
2023 financial year.

2. Consolidation principles

Capital is consolidated according to the purchase method of accounting. 

Any difference remaining on the assets side after netting is recognised as goodwill 
on the assets side and amortised over its conventional useful life of five years. 
There has been no more goodwill to recognise since the 2020 financial year.

Associates are recognised in the consolidated balance sheet at their proportion-
ate carrying amounts.

Receivables and payables are offset in the consolidated financial statements by 
eliminating the receivables and the corresponding payables between the compa-
nies included in the consolidated financial statements.

Expenses and earnings between all included, fully consolidated companies were 
eliminated.

IV. Notes on the statement of financial position

1. Fixed assets

The development of fixed assets in the financial year and in the previous year, 
including their breakdown, is presented separately in the consolidated statement 
of changes in fixed assets (see Appendix to the notes).

The intangible assets are essentially software purchased from third parties.

Intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over an expected useful 
life. The expected useful life of software purchased from third parties is between 
three and 15 years.

The financial assets contain a loan of 5.0 million euros to msg nexinsure ag. The 
loan matures on 23 June 2027.

2. Inventories

Inventories predominantly include as-yet-uninvoiced sales relating to customer 
orders. The amount stated includes some fixed-price projects, which have been 
capitalised while observing the loss-free valuation rule.

Payments on account of unfinished purchased services totalling 31.400 million 
euros (previous year: 31.400 million euros) are attributable to a major project re-
ceived in 2018 and have been paid to msg systems ag, Ismaning. These payments 
made on account are offset by payments totalling 36.578 million euros (previous 
year: 31.400 million euros) received on account from customers.
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Payments received on account totalling 59.616 million euros (previous year: 
44.808 million euros) have been offset in full against inventories. This leaves net 
inventories of 863,000 euros (previous year: 8.391 million euros).

3. Trade receivables

Trade receivables totalled 50.636 million euros as at 31 December 2023 (previous 
year: 41.259 million euros). Of the total, 50.605 million euros (previous year: 41.193 
million euros) are due within one year, and 31,000 euros are due within five years.

4. Accounts due from affiliated companies

As in the previous year, the accounts due from affiliated companies of 12.829 
million euros as at 31 December 2023 (previous year: 12.750 million euros) were 
due within one year. This increase is due to the continuous expansion of the col-
laboration between msg life and the msg Group company msg nexinsure. 

With regard to the composition of the accounts due from affiliated companies, see 
section VII. ‘Related parties’, number 3 ‘Other transactions with related parties’.

5. Other assets

The other assets are payable within one year (as in the previous year) and can be 
broken down as follows:

31.12.2023 31.12.2022
Thousand euros Thousand euros

Value added tax 425 616

Corporate income tax 459 214

Security deposits 160 227

Sundry 256 253

Total 1,300 1,310

6. Marketable securities

The US treasury bonds held in current assets at 25.318 million euros (previous 
year: 26.726 million euros) are short-term investments. In 2023, interest income of 
35,000 euros was recognised through profit or loss (previous year: 28,000 euros). 

7. Cash on hand, cash in banks and cheques

These are cash in hand, bank balances and cheques totalling 15.629 million euros 
(previous year: 6.873 million euros).

8. Prepaid expenses and deferred income  

In particular, the partial amounts of the maintenance fees and rent for IT equipment 
paid in the reporting year totalling 3.994 million euros (previous year: 4.265 million 
euros) that do not give rise to expenditure until the following year are reported under 
the prepaid expenses of 3.994 million euros (previous year: 4.037 million euros).
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9. Subscribed capital

As in the previous year, the subscribed capital as at 31 December 2023 totals 
42,802,453.00 euros and is fully paid in. 

Overall, the subscribed capital is still divided into 42,802,453 no-par-value bearer 
shares, each representing a computational equity stake of 1 euro. Each share 
entitles its holder to one vote. No preference shares are issued.

The following authorised capital was available in the period under review:

Authorised capital 2020/I

The annual general meeting on 10 November 2020 authorised the Management 
Board to increase the company’s share capital by 9 November 2025 with the ap-
proval of the Supervisory Board by issuing new no-par-value bearer shares against 
cash contributions or contributions in kind on one or more occasions, albeit by no 
more than 21,401,226 euros in total (Authorised Capital 2020/1). The new shares 
must be offered to the shareholders for subscription; they may also be acquired 
by banks or a company operating under section 53, paragraph 1, sentence 1, or 
section 53b, paragraph 1, sentence 1, or paragraph 7 of the German Banking 
Act (KWG), with an obligation that the shares be offered to the shareholders for 
subscription. The Management Board is authorised to exclude the shareholders’ 
pre-emptive rights with the approval of the Supervisory Board and in compliance 
with the precise regulations and, subject to the approval of the Supervisory Board, 
to determine the remaining conditions of share issuance, including the issue price 
and the further details of the share rights.

10. Capital reserves

Capital reserves include the amount received in excess of the nominal price when 
shares are issued. By 31 December 2023, as in the previous year, the capital re-
serves totalled 11,704,846.80 euros. 

Only the restrictions of section 150 of the AktG on the payment of dividends or 
repayment of capital apply to the capital reserve.

11. Group revenue reserves

The Group revenue reserves include the profits of the companies within the scope of 
the consolidated financial statements, unless they have been paid out as dividends. 

12. Equity difference from foreign currency translation

Differences arising from currency conversion, with no impact on earnings, from the 
financial statements of foreign subsidiaries are included in this balance sheet item. 

The statement of changes in equity provides a detailed breakdown of the changes 
in the Group revenue reserves and the equity difference from foreign currency 
translation.
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13. Consolidated net retained profits / net accumulated losses and 
appropriation of net income

The net retained profits of 8.948 million euros as at 31 December 2023 (previous 
year: net accumulated losses of 1.221 million euros) consist of a loss carryforward 
of 1.221 million euros (previous year: 10.352 million euros (previous year: 10.352 
million euros), a dividend payment of 1.712 million euros (previous year: 0 euros) and 
net income for the year of 11.881 million euros (previous year: 9.131 million euros).

Under the German Stock Corporation Act, dividends available for distribution depend 
on the net profit which msg life ag declares in its financial statements, drawn up 
in accordance with the provisions of the German Commercial Code. 

In the financial year, the company distributed a dividend of 1,712,098.12 euros 
from the previous year’s net retained profits to its shareholders.

The Management Board will propose to the upcoming annual general meeting that 
the net retained profits of 13,339,445.43 euros should be appropriated as follows:

Distribution of a dividend of 0.04 euros per qualifying share for the 2023 financial 
year (1,712,098.12 euros) and transfer to statutory reserves (11,627,347.31 euros).

14. Pension provisions

Pension agreements exist for the parent company and for one domestic and one 
foreign subsidiary within the msg life Group in the form of direct defined-benefit 
obligations. In defined-benefit plans, the employer undertakes to make the 
promised pension payments and to finance them by forming pension provisions 
or separate plan assets for pension purposes.

Provisions for pension obligations are formed on the basis of plans for retirement, 
incapacity and survivors’ benefit. Group pension obligations to employees are 
based on direct and indirect pension commitments. Benefits from direct pension 
obligations are fundamentally determined as a function of monthly salary and 
length of service with the company.

The amount of the pension obligation is calculated by actuarial methods using 
the internationally accepted projected unit credit method, with future obliga-
tions being calculated on the basis of the proportional entitlements acquired on 
the reporting date. Evaluation takes account of assumed trends for the relevant 
variables which affect the amount of benefit. Actuarial calculations are required 
for all benefit systems.

Not only assumptions about life expectancy and incapacity, but also premises us-
ing the biometric principles of the 2018 G mortality tables from Professor Heubeck 
or the BVG 2015 generation tables play a role.
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The calculations are based on the following actuarial assumptions for the respec-
tive reference dates:  

2023 msg life ag msg life  
central europe

msg life Switzerland

% per year % per year % per year

Actuarial interest rates 1.82 1.82 1.82

Projected increase in salaries n/a 2.60 1.50

Rate of pension progression (civil service 
adjustment)

2.10 2.10 0.00

Inflation rate n/a n/a n/a

2022 msg life ag msg life    
central europe

msg life Switzerland

% per year % per year % per year

Actuarial interest rates 1.78 1.78 1.78

Projected increase in salaries n/a n/a 1.50

Rate of pension progression (civil service 
adjustment)

2.10 2.10 0.00

Inflation rate n/a n/a n/a

The claims arising from the plan assets (counter-guarantee insurance and fixed-
term deposits) have been offset against the obligations. The following table shows 
the amounts offset in the statement of financial position:

31.12.2023 msg life ag msg life 
 central europe

msg life 
 Switzerland

Total

Thousand euros Thousand euros Thousand euros Thousand euros

Obligation less 1,551 6,290 5,461 13,302

Fair value of plan assets 1,059 0 5,046 6,105

Pension provisions 492 6,290 415 7,197

31.12.2022 msg life ag msg life 
 central europe

msg life 
 Switzerland

Total

Thousand euros Thousand euros Thousand euros Thousand euros

Obligation less 1,549 6,289 3,766 11,604

Fair value of plan assets 1,045 0 3,255 4,300

Pension provisions 504 6,289 511 7,304
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The difference of 7.197 million euros (previous year: 7.304 million euros) is recog-
nised as a liability in the statement of financial position.

The settlement amount which is equivalent to the offset plan assets is 7.753 million 
euros (previous year: 6.064 million euros).

The fair value which corresponds to the historical costs of the offset assets is 6.105 
million euros (previous year: 4.300 million euros).

Pursuant to section 246, paragraph 2 of the HGB, in conjunction with section 
314, paragraph 1, no. 17 of the HGB, the netted expenses (interest expenses on 
obligations) and income (income from counter-guarantee insurance and fixed-
term deposits) in connection with the above netting of liabilities and assets in 
the reporting year amounted to -21,000 euros (previous year: 393,000 euros) and 
can be broken down as follows: 

2023 msg life ag msg life 
 central europe

msg life 
 Switzerland

Total

Thousand euros Thousand euros Thousand euros Thousand euros

Interest expenses on obligations 22 80 47 149

Interest income from plan assets 4  0 165 170

Netted expenses and income 2023 17 80 -118 -21

2022 msg life ag msg life 
 central europe

msg life 
 Switzerland

Total

Thousand euros Thousand euros Thousand euros Thousand euros

Interest expenses on obligations 48 239 119 406

Interest income from plan assets 1 0 12 13

Netted expenses and income 2022 47 239 107 393
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The difference resulting from interest determined in accordance with section 253, 
paragraph 6, sentence 1, of the HGB is as follows:

31.12.2023 msg life ag msg life 
 central europe

msg life 
 Switzerland

Total

Thousand euros Thousand euros Thousand euros Thousand euros

Obligation when interest is calculated at the 
average market interest rate for the past seven 
years of 1.70%

1,565 6,380 5,528 13,474

Obligation when interest is calculated at the 
average market interest rate for the past ten years 
of 1.82%

1,551  6,290 5,461 13,302

Difference as defined in section 253, paragraph 6, 
sentence 1, of the HGB as at 31 December 2023

15 90 67 172

31.12.2022 msg life ag msg life 
 central europe

msg life 
 Switzerland

Total

Thousand euros Thousand euros Thousand euros Thousand euros

Obligation when interest is calculated at the 
average market interest rate for the past seven years

1,595 6,579 3,907 12,081

Obligation when interest is calculated at the 
average market interest rate for the past ten years

1,549 6,289 3,766 11,604

Difference as defined in section 253, paragraph 6, 
sentence 1, of the HGB as at 31 December 2022

46 290 141 477

15. Tax provisions

The tax provisions concern unknown obligations predominantly arising from taxes 
dependent on income as at the reporting date. The current tax provisions of 1.989 
million euros (previous year: 2.235 million euros) are essentially income taxes from 
Germany totalling 1.610 million euros (previous year: 1.119 million euros), income 
taxes from the USA totalling 238,000 euros (previous year: 949,000 euros) and 
federal, state and municipal taxes in Switzerland totalling 37,000 euros (previous 
year: 46,000 euros).

16. Other provisions

31.12.22 Foreign 
currency 

differences

Utilisations Reversals Transfer Disposal 
Consolida-
tion group

31.12.23

Thousand 
euros

Thousand 
euros

Thousand 
euros

Thousand 
euros

Thousand 
euros

Thousand 
euros

Thousand 
euros

Personnel-related provisions 13,885 96 6,539 801 9,292 42 15,698

Outstanding incoming invoices 2,091 0 1,007 78 399 0 1,406

Sundry 732 0 271 57 426 73 757

Other provisions 16,708 96 7,816 936 10,117 115 17,862

The reversals of provisions are reported in the consolidated income statement 
under other operating income.
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The valuation as at the reporting date takes into account the financial charges the 
company is expected to have to bear. 

The personnel-related provisions essentially consist of short-term provisions for 
holidays, overtime and entitlements to variable remuneration of 13.171 million 
euros (previous year: 11.348 million euros), long-term provisions for anniversary 
bonuses of 1.458 million euros (previous year: 1.431 million euros) and long-term 
provisions for settlements of 902,000 euros (previous year: 837,000 euros).

The provision for anticipated incoming invoices relates to other operating expenses 
and the costs of purchased services and of the annual financial statements.

The other provisions essentially included the provisions formed for archiving and 
renovation, the costs of the annual report and the remuneration for the Super-
visory Board.

17. Liabilities

The remaining terms of the liabilities developed as follows:

31.12.2023 < 1 year 1 to 5 years > 5 years Total
Thousand euros Thousand euros Thousand euros Thousand euros

Trade payables 3,182 0 0 3,182

Liabilities to affiliated companies 6,093 0 0 6,093

Other liabilities 4,215 0 0 4,215

Of which from taxes 2,558 0 0 2,558 

Of which for social security 731 0 0 731

Total liabilities 13,490 0 0 13,490

31.12.2022 < 1 year 1 to 5 years > 5 years Total
Thousand euros Thousand euros Thousand euros Thousand euros

Trade payables 5,415 0 0 5,415

Liabilities to affiliated companies 5,099 0 0 5,099

Other liabilities 4,885 0 0 4,885 

Of which from taxes 3,296 0 0 3,296 

Of which for social security 667 0 0 667

Total liabilities 15,399 0 0 15,399

a. Liabilities to affiliated companies

With regard to the composition of liabilities to affiliated companies, see section 
VII ‘Related parties’, number 3 ‘Other transactions with related parties’.

b. Other liabilities

The other liabilities due in up to one year essentially concern VAT liabilities of 
1.438 million euros (previous year: 2.094 million euros) and wage and church tax 
liabilities of 1.107 million euros (previous year: 1.189 million euros). 
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18. Prepaid expenses and deferred income

As in the previous year, the deferred income of 2.429 million euros (previous year: 
1.309 million euros) included the partial amounts of the maintenance fees received 
in the reporting year that will not give rise to income until the following year.

19. Deferred tax liabilities

The deferred taxes were determined using the relevant country-specific tax rates 
that were between 20 per cent and 30 per cent in the 2023 financial year (previous 
year: between 20 per cent and 30 per cent). Changes in tax rates that had already 
been decided upon as of the balance sheet date were taken into account when the 
deferred taxes were determined. Deferred tax assets and liabilities in the amount 
of 113,000 euros (previous year: 229,000 euros) and 113,000 euros (previous year: 
229,000 euros), respectively, and 0 euros net (previous year: 0 euros) result from 
the overall consideration of the differences between the valuation according to 
commercial law and the tax valuation. Essentially, they concern deferred taxes on 
the measurement of intangible assets.

20. Contingent liabilities and other financial obligations

The other financial obligations amount to 67.271 million euros in total (previous year: 
46.425 million euros) and comprise obligations from leases, tenancy agreements 
and service contracts. The leases concern leased operating and office equipment, 
the rental contracts concern rented office space and the maintenance contracts 
concern hardware and software.

V. Notes to the consolidated income statement

The income statement was prepared according to the cost-summary method in 
2023 as in the year before.

1. Sales

The sales of the Group can be broken down as follows by field of activity:

2023 2022
Thousand euros Thousand euros

Services 128,376 128,823

Maintenance 27,541 26,790

Licences 14,660 19,443

Other income 8,582 7,849

Group turnover 179,159 182,905

The service turnover contains rental income of 288,000 euros (previous year: 
222,000 euros).
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The sales of the Group can be broken down as follows by geographical market:

2023 2022
Thousand euros Thousand euros

Germany 156,106 156,134

United States 20,460 20,064

Slovenia 0 4,138 

Switzerland 1,384 1,272 

Portugal and Spain 1,104 1,220

Benelux 93 77

Austria 12 0

Total 179,159 182,905

2. Other operating income

2023 2022
Thousand euros Thousand euros

Income from the reversal of other 
provisions

936 819

Company car and other non-monetary 
benefits

465 405

Foreign currency gains 194 333

Income from disposal of investments 1,074 0

Sundry 288 470

Total 2,958 2,027

The item ‘Income from disposal of investments’ results from the sale of msg life 
odateam d.o.o., Maribor (Slovenia) to the msg Group company msg Plaut Austria 
AG, Vienna (Austria).

Essentially, the item ‘Sundry’ contains income from a research bonus of 69,000 
euros from the federal state of Bavaria (previous year: 66,000 euros) as well as 
income from a research bonus from the Austrian finance ministry in the amount 
of 17,000 euros (previous year: 64,000 euros). Other income of 81,000 euros 
(previous year: 151,000 euros) relating to the personnel department was also 
presented in this item. 

The reversal of other provisions resulted in income relating to other periods. This 
is essentially attributable to provisions for bonuses on the level of msg life central 
europe as well as msg life Austria.
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3. Cost of materials

2023 2022
Thousand euros Thousand euros

Other services 20,547 16,229

Freelance employees 13,565 13,335

Goods purchased for resale 11 57

Other 2,972 1,466

Total 37,095 31,087

4. Personnel expenses

2023 2022
Thousand euros Thousand euros

Wages and salaries 95,171 89,653

Social security contributions 17,587 16,718

Personnel expenses excluding pensions 112,758 106,371

Pension expenses 752 861

Total 113,510 107,232

Social security contributions comprise, in particular, the employer’s contribution 
to social insurance, voluntary social welfare expenses and contributions to the 
employer’s liability insurance association.

Pension expenses primarily comprise the allocations to pension provisions.

The average number of employees employed during the financial year was 1,225, 
of whom 33 were executives and 1,192 were permanent employees (1,225 in the 
previous year, of whom 29 were executives and 1,196 were permanent employees).

5. Depreciation, amortisation and write-downs

For the structure and composition of the depreciation, amortisation and write-
downs, see the statement of changes in fixed assets enclosed with the notes to 
the consolidated financial statements. 
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6. Other operating expenses

2023 2022
Thousand euros Thousand euros

Costs of business premises 7,343 7,335

IT expenses 5,436 4,580

Consulting, accounting, Supervisory Board 2,311 2,531

Advertising expenses 774 1,228

Travel expenses 1,557 1,207

Communication expenses 727 876

Staff recruitment 962 735

Motor vehicle costs 673 680

Professional training 529 562

Exchange losses 345 270

Sundry 2,787 2,864

Total 23,445 22,868

As in the previous year, the line item ‘Sundry’ essentially contained insurance 
expenses, voluntary social welfare expenses, event costs, fees and contributions 
in 2023. 

The fees incurred for auditing services in the reporting year and the previous year 
amounted to:

2023 2022
Thousand euros Thousand euros

Audits of financial statements (including 
expenses)

238 245

Tax consulting services 33 0

Total 272 245
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7. Financial result

2023 2022
Thousand euros Thousand euros

Interest and similar income 1,728 438

Interest and similar expenses -173 -495

Financial result 1,555 -57

Besides interest on cash and cash equivalents, primarily from securities invest-
ments of FJA-US of 1.150 million euros (previous year: 233,000 euros), the interest 
income also comprises interest income from loans granted to affiliated companies 
totalling 363,000 euros (previous year: 148,000 euros). 

Interest and similar expenses include income of 17,000 euros from netting income 
and expenses from the discounting of provisions for pensions and anniversary 
bonuses (previous year: expenses of 409,000 euros). 

8. Income taxes

The tax expenses arise from the components listed below:

2023 2022
Thousand euros Thousand euros

Current income tax expenses 2,879 2,349

Deferred taxes from temporary differences 0 0

Total 2,879 2,349

VI. Notes to the consolidated cash flow statement

The cash flow statement displays the origin and use of payment flows in the 2023 
and 2022 financial years. Here, payment flows from operating activities and from 
investment and financial activities are differentiated. The cash and cash equiva-
lents encompass all cash in hand, bank balances and cash equivalents with a 
maximum term of three months as at the date of acquisition. There are no access 
restrictions on cash and cash equivalents.

Changes in cash and cash equivalents from operating activities are adjusted for 
effects from currency conversion.

Changes in cash and cash equivalents from investment and financial activities 
are calculated in terms of sums paid. 

Changes in cash and cash equivalents from continuing activities are, in contrast, 
indirectly derived from earnings before taxes.

The main non-cash effects in the cash flow from operating activities were: de-
preciation of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets amounting to 
2.132 million euros (previous year: 2.527 million euros) as well as the increase and 
decrease in provisions of 530,000 euros (previous year: 68,000 euros).
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VII. Related parties

Related parties are the Management Board and the Supervisory Board of msg 
life ag and msg group GmbH, Ismaning, which has been the highest-level parent 
company of msg life ag since 16 March 2009, including its subsidiaries, joint 
ventures and associated companies.

1. Total remuneration of the Management Board and the 
Supervisory Board

Management Board remuneration

The remuneration of the Management Board active in the financial year was 1.228 
million euros (previous year: 1.311 million euros). The remuneration was allocated 
as follows:

Remuneration for former members of the Management Board in 2023 amounted 
to 139,000 euros (previous year: 134,000 euros).

Pension provisions for former members of the Management Board offset against 
plan assets amounted to 492,000 euros on 31 December 2023 (previous year: 
504,000 euros).

Supervisory Board remuneration

The remuneration of the Supervisory Board amounted to 176,000 euros (previous 
year: 176,000 euros). 

2. Share ownership of the Management Board and the Supervisory 
Board

As at 31 December 2023, the Management Board did not hold any shares in 
msg life ag. Simultaneously, the member of the Supervisory Board Mr Johann 
Zehetmaier, Ismaning, indirectly held shares in msg life ag through msg systems 
ag, Ismaning, as a co-partner in msg group GmbH, Ismaning. 

3. Other transactions with related parties

Other related companies and parties

There are no transactions with the members of the Management Board and the 
Supervisory Board beyond the aforementioned matters in the financial year.

The following table contains the total amounts from transactions between related 
companies for the reporting year and in the previous year:
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Income from transac-
tions with related 

parties and companies

Expenses from transac-
tions with related 

parties and companies

Amounts due from 
related parties and 

companies

Amounts payable to 
related parties and 

companies

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
Thousand 

euros
Thousand 

euros
Thousand 

euros
Thousand 

euros
Thousand 

euros
Thousand 

euros
Thousand 

euros
Thousand 

euros

Related companies         

a) msg systems ag, Ismaning 
(parent company)

2,038 2,352 14,182 9,764 197  147 5,767 4,899

b) msg nexinsure ag, 
Ismaning 

12,341 8,904 6,196 5,269 19,924 18,524 3,208  995

c) msg global solutions 
Benelux B.V., Utrecht 
(Netherlands)

0 0 30 6 0 0 0  6

d) msg services GmbH, 
Ismaning

0 27 342 381 0 0 67  92

e) BELTIOS GmbH, Munich 0 0 460 1,157 0  0 40  82

f) msg systems ag, 
Regensdorf (Switzerland)

1,411 1,589 135 298 257  276 79 56

g) msg Gillardon AG, Bretten 3 3 2 8 0 0 1 3

h) msg Plaut Consulting 
Austria GmbH, Vienna 
(Austria) 

14 0 0 2 0 0 0  1

i) msg global solutions India 
Pte. Ltd, Bangalore (India)

0 0 917 561 0 0 253 163

j) msg Plaut AG, Vienna 
(Austria)

0 0 0 0 1050 0 0 0

k) msg global solutions ag, 
Regensdorf

0 0 124 0 0 0 51 0

Furthermore, msg life ag, Leinfelden-Echterdingen, made payments on account 
of unfinished purchased services totalling 31.400 million euros (previous year: 
31.400 million euros) to msg systems ag, Ismaning. See also section IV ‘Notes on 
the statement of financial position’, number 2 ‘Inventories’.

Aside from msg systems AG, all other companies specified are other related 
companies and parties.

The income and expenses shown as well as amounts owed to and from related par-
ties and companies are mainly comprised of services either rendered or received.
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VIII. Information on the management bodies

Members of the Supervisory Board in the reporting period:

Johann Zehetmaier (Chairman of the Supervisory Board),  
Managing Director of msg group GmbH, Ismaning

Dr Martin Strobel (Deputy Chairman),  
Independent Entrepreneur, Riehen  (Switzerland)

Dr Thomas Noth (member of the Supervisory Board),  
Managing Director of  annocon Value GmbH, Hanover 

Dr Aristid Neuburger (member of the Supervisory Board),  
Graduate  Mathematician, Munich 

Members of the Management Board in the reporting period:

Rolf Zielke (direct overall responsibility for Central Europe – Chief Executive 
 Officer), Munich (until 31 July 2023) 

Dr Andrea van Aubel (direct overall responsibility for Central Europe – 
Chief  Executive Officer), Munich (from 1 August 2023)

Francesco Cargnel (direct overall responsibility for Central Europe),  
Graduate Computer Scientist, Munich 

Robert Hess (direct overall responsibility for Central Europe),  
Graduate Business Informatics Professional, Sulz am Neckar

Milenko Radic (direct overall responsibility for Global),  
Graduate Business Informatics Professional, Leinfelden-Echterdingen  

Dr Wolf Wiedmann (direct overall responsibility for Central Europe),  
Graduate Physicist, Cologne

Leinfelden-Echterdingen, 18 April 2024 
msg life ag

DR ANDREA VAN AUBEL
Chief Executive Officer

FRANCESCO CARGNEL
Member of the Management Board

ROBERT HESS
Member of the Management Board

MILENKO RADIC
Member of the Management Board

DR WOLF WIEDMANN
Member of the Management Board
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Consolidated statement 
of changes in fixed assets for 
the period

from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023

Fixed assets 2023 Historical costs of acquisition and production Accumulated depreciation/amortisation Net carrying amounts

As at  
1.1.23

Additions Reclassifica-
tions

Disposals Disposals 
in the con-
solidation 

group

Foreign 
currency 

differences

As at 
31.12.23

As at  
1.1.23

Additions Disposals Disposals 
in the con-
solidation 

group

Foreign 
currency 

differences

As at 
31.12.23

As at  
1.1.23

As at 
31.12.23

Thousand 
euros

Thousand 
euros

Thousand 
euros

Thousand 
euros

Thousand 
euros

Thousand 
euros

Thousand 
euros

Thousand  
euros

Thousand 
euros

Thousand 
euros

Thousand 
euros

Thousand 
euros

Thousand 
euros

Thousand 
euros

Thousand 
euros

I. Intangible assets                    

1. Franchises, 
trademarks, patents, 
licences and similar 
rights

8,591 0 0 0 0 0 8,591 7,924 363 0 0 0 8,287 667 304

2. Goodwill 31,683 0 0 0 –1,950 0 29,733 31,683 0 0 –1,950 0 29,733 0 0

 40,274 0 0 0 –1,950 0 38,324 39,607 363 0 –1,950 0 38,021 667 304

II. Property, plant and 
equipment

               

1. Land, leasehold 
rights and buildings, 
including buildings on 
third-party land

5,147 391 0 –124 0 6 5,421 4,603 109 124 0 6 4,595 544 826

2. Other fixtures and 
fittings, tools and 
equipment

18,268 1,728 0 –680 –323 –9 18,984 14,763 1,659 678 –243 –5 15,496 3,505 3,488

3. Advance payments and 
plant and machinery in 
process of construction

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

 23,415 2,120 0 –803 –323 –3 24,405 19,366 1,769 801 –243 1 20,091 4,049 4,314

III. Financial assets                

1. Loans to affiliated 
companies  

5,000 0 0 0 0 0 5,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 5,000 5,000

2. Investments 0 336 0 0 0 0 336 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 336

 5,000 336 0 0 0 0 5,336 0 0 0 0 0 0 5,000 5,337

Total assets 68,689 2,456 0 –803 –2,272 –3 68,066 58,973 2,132 801 –2,193 1 58,112 9,716 9,955

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

- Non-binding English Translation -
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Consolidated statement 
of changes in fixed assets for 
the period

Fixed assets 2023 Historical costs of acquisition and production Accumulated depreciation/amortisation Net carrying amounts

As at  
1.1.23

Additions Reclassifica-
tions

Disposals Disposals 
in the con-
solidation 

group

Foreign 
currency 

differences

As at 
31.12.23

As at  
1.1.23

Additions Disposals Disposals 
in the con-
solidation 

group

Foreign 
currency 

differences

As at 
31.12.23

As at  
1.1.23

As at 
31.12.23

Thousand 
euros

Thousand 
euros

Thousand 
euros

Thousand 
euros

Thousand 
euros

Thousand 
euros

Thousand 
euros

Thousand  
euros

Thousand 
euros

Thousand 
euros

Thousand 
euros

Thousand 
euros

Thousand 
euros

Thousand 
euros

Thousand 
euros

I. Intangible assets                    

1. Franchises, 
trademarks, patents, 
licences and similar 
rights

8,591 0 0 0 0 0 8,591 7,924 363 0 0 0 8,287 667 304

2. Goodwill 31,683 0 0 0 –1,950 0 29,733 31,683 0 0 –1,950 0 29,733 0 0

 40,274 0 0 0 –1,950 0 38,324 39,607 363 0 –1,950 0 38,021 667 304

II. Property, plant and 
equipment

               

1. Land, leasehold 
rights and buildings, 
including buildings on 
third-party land

5,147 391 0 –124 0 6 5,421 4,603 109 124 0 6 4,595 544 826

2. Other fixtures and 
fittings, tools and 
equipment

18,268 1,728 0 –680 –323 –9 18,984 14,763 1,659 678 –243 –5 15,496 3,505 3,488

3. Advance payments and 
plant and machinery in 
process of construction

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

 23,415 2,120 0 –803 –323 –3 24,405 19,366 1,769 801 –243 1 20,091 4,049 4,314

III. Financial assets                

1. Loans to affiliated 
companies  

5,000 0 0 0 0 0 5,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 5,000 5,000

2. Investments 0 336 0 0 0 0 336 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 336

 5,000 336 0 0 0 0 5,336 0 0 0 0 0 0 5,000 5,337

Total assets 68,689 2,456 0 –803 –2,272 –3 68,066 58,973 2,132 801 –2,193 1 58,112 9,716 9,955

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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Consolidated statement 
of changes in fixed assets for 
the period

from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022

Fixed assets 2022 Historical costs of acquisition and production Accumulated depreciation/amortisation Net carrying amounts

As at  
1.1.22

Additions Reclassifica-
tions

Disposals Foreign 
currency 

differences

As at 
31.12.22

As at  
1.1.22

Additions Disposals Foreign 
currency 

differences

As at 
31.12.22

As at  
1.1.22

As at 
31.12.22

Thousand 
euros

Thousand 
euros

Thousand 
euros

Thousand 
euros

Thousand 
euros

Thousand 
euros

Thousand  
euros

Thousand 
euros

Thousand 
euros

Thousand 
euros

Thousand 
euros

Thousand 
euros

Thousand 
euros

I. Intangible assets                 

1. Franchises, trademarks, patents, 
licences and similar rights

8,591 0 0 0 0 8,591 7,561 363 0 0 7,924 1,030 667

2. Goodwill 31,683 0 0 0 0 31,683 31,683 0 0 0 31,683 0 0

 40,274 0 0 0 0 40,274 39,244 363 0 0 39,607 1,030 667

II. Property, plant and equipment              

1. Land, leasehold rights and 
buildings, including buildings on 
third-party land

5,034 74 25 0 14 5,147 4,502 88 0 13 4,603 532 544

2. Other fixtures and fittings, tools and 
equipment

16,310 2,046 0 –139 51 18,268 12,779 2,076 139 47 14,763 3,531 3,505

3. Advance payments and plant 
and machinery in process of 
construction

25 0 –25 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 25 0

 21,369 2,120 0 –139 65 23,415 17,281 2,164 139 60 19,366 4,088 4,049

III. Financial assets              

1. Loans to affiliated companies 0 5,000 0 0 0 5,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 5,000

 0 5,000 0 0 0 5,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 5,000

Total assets 61,643 7,120 0 –139 65 68,689 56,525 2,527 139 60 58,973 5,118 9,716

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

- Non-binding English Translation -
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Consolidated statement 
of changes in fixed assets for 
the period

Fixed assets 2022 Historical costs of acquisition and production Accumulated depreciation/amortisation Net carrying amounts

As at  
1.1.22

Additions Reclassifica-
tions

Disposals Foreign 
currency 

differences

As at 
31.12.22

As at  
1.1.22

Additions Disposals Foreign 
currency 

differences

As at 
31.12.22

As at  
1.1.22

As at 
31.12.22

Thousand 
euros

Thousand 
euros

Thousand 
euros

Thousand 
euros

Thousand 
euros

Thousand 
euros

Thousand  
euros

Thousand 
euros

Thousand 
euros

Thousand 
euros

Thousand 
euros

Thousand 
euros

Thousand 
euros

I. Intangible assets                 

1. Franchises, trademarks, patents, 
licences and similar rights

8,591 0 0 0 0 8,591 7,561 363 0 0 7,924 1,030 667

2. Goodwill 31,683 0 0 0 0 31,683 31,683 0 0 0 31,683 0 0

 40,274 0 0 0 0 40,274 39,244 363 0 0 39,607 1,030 667

II. Property, plant and equipment              

1. Land, leasehold rights and 
buildings, including buildings on 
third-party land

5,034 74 25 0 14 5,147 4,502 88 0 13 4,603 532 544

2. Other fixtures and fittings, tools and 
equipment

16,310 2,046 0 –139 51 18,268 12,779 2,076 139 47 14,763 3,531 3,505

3. Advance payments and plant 
and machinery in process of 
construction

25 0 –25 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 25 0

 21,369 2,120 0 –139 65 23,415 17,281 2,164 139 60 19,366 4,088 4,049

III. Financial assets              

1. Loans to affiliated companies 0 5,000 0 0 0 5,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 5,000

 0 5,000 0 0 0 5,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 5,000

Total assets 61,643 7,120 0 –139 65 68,689 56,525 2,527 139 60 58,973 5,118 9,716

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

- Non-binding English Translation -
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The following management report is the condensed management report and 
Group management report of msg life ag, Leinfelden-Echterdingen. It tracks the 
business performance of the msg life Group, including that of the individual 
Group company of the same name, msg life ag, including the operating results 
for the 2023 financial year from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023, as well as 
the situation of the Group and the individual company as at the reporting date, 
31 December 2023.

All statements apply to the msg life Group (in the 
following also ‘msg life’) as a whole. Should the indi-
vidual Group company be meant or should something 
different apply to the individual Group company in the 
course of the report, this will be explicitly mentioned 
or explained accordingly. 

As of the reporting date, msg life ag (and its Group 
companies) is an indirect subsidiary of msg group 
GmbH, Ismaning. Hereinafter, the term ‘msg Group’ is 
used for msg group GmbH and its Group companies. 

On 25 September 2020, msg life ag, Leinfelden-Ech-
terdingen, and msg systems ag, Ismaning, signed a 
control agreement, which was amended on 6 November 
2020. The annual general meetings of msg life ag and 
msg systems approved this control agreement on 10 
November 2020 and 18 November 2020 respectively. 
The control agreement took effect retroactively as of 1 
January 2021 when it was entered in the commercial 
register for msg life ag at the Stuttgart District Court 
on 20 January 2021.

The reporting currency is the euro, and the rounding is 
done to thousands or millions of euros. This can give rise 
to rounding differences of up to one arithmetical unit.

The Group’s foundations 

Business model

The msg life Group has been developing IT system 
solutions since 1980, advising clients successfully 
on the implementation of their IT strategies and has 
become a leading provider of software, consulting and 
cloud solutions with a digital focus for life insurers and 
pension fund institutions in Europe and, in particular, 
health and group insurance companies in the USA. In 
addition to enjoying a leading market position in the 
German-speaking countries, msg life’s software is 
deployed worldwide. The solutions of the company 
are being used in numerous countries. 

As a holding company, the individual Group company 
is responsible for financing the Group companies 
as well as for their strategic and, to a limited extent, 
operational management. The holding company is 
primarily responsible for determining the target mar-
kets, defining the product range and making decisions 
concerning mergers and acquisitions. The holding 
company is responsible for central and staff functions 
such as sales, marketing, human resources, finance, 
business operations, controlling, internal auditing, 

data protection, compliance management, risk man-
agement, information security, organisation and IT 
services and law. 

The holding company’s commercial activities are 
restricted mainly to the settlement of services within 
the Group and to financing; it operates only rarely as 
a contracting partner in customer projects. Within the 
scope of services, it is mainly the above-mentioned 
central and staff functions incumbent on the holding 
company that are settled. The purpose of the financing 
activity consists primarily of making interest-bearing 
loans to Group companies, making cash investments 
and distributing earnings from participating interests.

The primary income potential for the holding company 
lies in earnings from participating interests. For this 
reason, the disclosures of the Group concerning the 
development of markets, the general economic envi-
ronment and opportunities and risks also apply to the 
holding company. 

On the reporting date, the customers of msg life 
primarily consisted of insurers focusing on life insur-
ance and pension fund institutions in Europe and, in 
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the United States, in particular health insurance and 
group insurance providers. The services of msg life 
range from the development and implementation of 
standard software and the provision of digital con-
sultancy services to the handling of full IT operations 
(SaaS/cloud solutions). In the context of SaaS, msg 
life works with various cloud providers such as AWS, 
Azure, Google and IBM. 

The headquarters of msg life ag are located in Leinfelden-
Echterdingen near Stuttgart, Germany. Other German 
branches are located in Munich, Hamburg and Cologne. 
msg life ag is also represented in Vienna (Austria), 
Zurich (Switzerland), Almere (Netherlands), Bratislava, 
Košice and Žilina (Slovakia), Oporto (Portugal), Madrid 
(Spain) and New York, Denver and Boca Raton (USA). 
The former Swiss site in Regensdorf was relocated to 
Zurich in the 2023 financial year. The former site in 
Maribor (Slovenia) was acquired by msg Plaut in the 
course of the sale of the subsidiary msg life odateam 
d.o.o. to msg Plaut AG, Vienna (Austria), in the report-
ing period with effect from 1 January 2023. This former 
subsidiary msg life odateam d.o.o. now operates under 
the name msg Plaut UAP d.o.o. 

According to the published announcements and the 
information available to msg life ag, the following direct 
or indirect interests in msg life ag exceed 25 per cent 
of the shares as at 31 December 2023:

Entity with reporting 
obligation

Type of 
interest

Number of 
shares

msg systems ag (Ismaning) Direct 77.29%

msg group GmbH (Ismaning) Indirect 77.29%

As of the reporting date, the consolidation group 
had changed due to the sale of the subsidiary msg 
life odateam d.o.o. to msg Plaut AG, Vienna (Austria). 
The commercial transition took place with effect from 
1 January 2023. In addition, there were no further 
changes to the consolidation group described in the 
consolidated financial statements for the 2022 financial 
year as at 31 December 2022.

Organisational structure 

Irrespective of its corporate structure, the msg life Group 
is divided up into business units assigned to market 
sectors or markets. This responsibility encompasses 
both the further development of the respective solu-
tion portfolio and the handling of customer projects, 
and is assumed at divisional level. The heads of these 
divisions and the managing directors comprise the 
next senior management level below the msg life ag 
Management Board. 

Management and monitoring

As at 31 December 2023, the Management Board of 
msg life ag consisted of Dr Andrea van Aubel (Chief 
Executive Officer), Francesco Cargnel, Robert Hess, 
Milenko Radic and Dr Wolf Wiedmann. 

Rolf Zielke stepped down as a member of the Manage-
ment Board and Chief Executive Officer of the company 
with effect from the end of business on 31 July 2023. 
Dr Andrea van Aubel was appointed as a member of 
the Management Board and Chief Executive Officer of 
the company with effect from 1 August 2023. 

As of 31 December 2023, the Supervisory Board of the 
company consisted of four members: Johann Zehetmaier 
(Chairman), Dr Martin Strobel (Deputy Chairman), Dr 
Aristid Neuburger and Dr Thomas Noth. 

msg life ag and the msg Group company msg nexinsure 
ag, Ismaning, have been working closely together for 
many years in the context of the joint solution msg.
Insurance Suite. The two companies have had a man-
agement team with unified responsibilities since 2021. 
Additionally, msg life and msg nexinsure are sharing 
the co-brand msg insur:it in the insurance market and 
underlining their leading role as a provider of insurance 
products. The co-brand msg insur:it notwithstanding, 
msg life and msg nexinsure will remain independent 
legal units. 

In September 2021, pursuant to section 52, paragraph 2, 
of the German Limited Liability Companies Act (GmbHG), 
the shareholders’ meeting of msg life central europe 
gmbh passed a resolution setting a target of (at least) 
0% for the proportion of women on the Supervisory 
Board of msg life central europe gmbh and among the 
managing directors of msg life central europe gmbh 
by 31 December 2025. The shareholders’ meeting is 
of the opinion that personal qualifications and ability, 
not gender, should be the decisive factor with regard to 
filling positions on the Supervisory Board and among 
the managing directors. As such, no considerations that 
are not solely based on the candidate’s personal and 
professional suitability for a role should be decisive.

 Control systems

Financial and non-financial performance indicators 
are used to control the company. The financial per-
formance indicators of the msg Group include Group 
revenue from its own business under the HGB and 
Group earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation 
and amortisation (EBITDA) under the HGB. On the 
level of the individual Group company, as the hold-
ing company, this includes the result under the HGB. 
Employee concerns in particular are a non-financial 
performance indicator.

msg life rethinking insurance
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Important products and services 

The company’s core product is the policy management 
system msg.Life Factory, with which life insurance and 
pension products can be managed. Focusing on the US 
market, Unified Product Platform supports the map-
ping of products and processes of specific American 
health and group insurance products. 

Furthermore, the following products cover – in some 
cases on a country-specific basis – key specialist and 
across-the-board functions in the core business of an 
insurance company:  

 — msg.Life Group: Policy management 
system for group business

 — msg.Zulagenverwaltung: System designed 
to manage the allowances of contracts 
subsidised under the Riester system

 — msg.RAN: Pension settlement 
and documentation system

 — msg.Tax Data: Reporting system with modules 
for tax notifications and tax ID identification, 
exemption order management, CRS and FATCA 
notifications and for health insurance: health 
insurance number (KVNR) identification and 
private health insurance certification process

 — msg.Pension Data: automated 
provision of portfolio data to the ZfD 
for the digital pension overview 

 — msg.Office: Inbox with transaction 
control and document processing

 — msg.Sales: Multichannel sales 
platform with msg.Underwriting as 
a risk assessment component

 — msg.Ilis: Insurance Liability Information System 
– a solution to optimise financial reporting

 — msg.Automated First: Business 
process automation solution

 — msg.Billing: Components for GoBD-
compliant payment transaction processing 

 — msg.Business Partner: Software 
solution for business data and 
partner system administration

 — msg.Commission: Efficient 
commission management

 — msg.Data Services: Data delivery 
solution for analysis and controlling 
tasks as well as statutory reporting

 — msg.GDPR: Product to support data 
protection requirements in complex 
application landscapes

 — msg.PMQ: Modelling and calculation tool for 
modern insurance and financial products 

There are also additional products for workplace pen-
sions and time value accounts:

 — msg.ZVK Factory: System for managing 
supplementary pension funds

 — msg.Pension: Management of time value 
accounts and workplace pensions

 — msg.Marsy-Pension: Administrative 
solution for the management of 
company pension commitments

msg life also offers a wide range of consulting and ser-
vices, from software implementation to policy migration. 
In the area of migration, its portfolio also includes the 
migration software solutions msg.Migration Analyze, 
msg.Migration System and msg.Migration Archive, as 
well as the complete solution msg.Migration Factory. 

msg.Life Factory and other key components are part of 
msg.Insurance Suite, the common insurance platform 
of the msg Group. msg.Insurance Suite is a holistic 
industrial standard for all sectors of the insurance 
industry. The solution covers and integrates all neces-
sary system components for an insurance company. 
msg life, msg nexinsure and the msg Group are col-
laborating closely in order to market msg.Insurance 
Suite. This collaboration and the full convergence of 
the components of msg.Insurance Suite are important 
elements of the product strategy.
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Economic report 

Macroeconomic and sector-specific 
conditions 

Wars, climate change, inflation and low investment 
are just some of the challenges facing the global 
economy in the current year. The World Bank forecasts 
that global growth will slow for the third time in a row 
in 2024. The global economy is set to grow by 2.4 per 
cent in the current year, after 2.6 per cent in 2023. 
This is according to the World Bank’s Global Economic 
Prospects report. Economists point to a sad record: 
in the past 30 years, there has never been a five-year 
period with such weak growth. 

The International Monetary Fund (IMF) is somewhat 
more optimistic: the global economy has recovered 
better than expected from the consequences of the 
Covid-19 pandemic, the effects of the war in Ukraine 
and the sharp rise in the cost of living. According to IMF 
estimates, growth in the current year will amount to 3.1 
per cent, as in the previous year. The IMF economists 
expect 3.2% for 2025. Thanks to a tighter monetary 
policy by central banks, the fight against inflation 
has had less of a negative impact on employment and 
business activity than feared. In addition, economic 
growth in the USA last year exceeded expectations with 
GDP growth of 2.5 per cent. In particular, household 
spending and the stable employment situation sup-
ported economic development.

Despite turbulence and uncertainties, the IMF believes 
that a ‘soft landing’ is possible for the global economy. 
Inflation is projected to be 5.8% this year and 4.4% 
next year. However, the IMF warns that geopolitical 
shocks – including the ongoing attacks in the Red 
Sea – could disrupt global supply chains and lead to 
sharp rises in the price of commercial goods.

The Organisation for Economic Co-operation and 
Development (OECD) has a similar assessment of the 
global situation. In its Interim Economic Outlook report 
published in February 2024, the experts predict global 
growth of 2.9 per cent in the current year, compared to 
3.1 per cent in the previous year. Growth is expected to 
amount to 3.0 per cent in 2025. The global economy 
is proving to be surprisingly resilient, especially in 
view of the easing upward pressure on prices and the 
robust US economy. OECD analysts see risks in rising 
geopolitical tensions. If, for example, the war in the 
Middle East were to have an impact on energy markets, 
price pressure could increase and slow growth.

The OECD forecasts growth of 2.1 per cent in 2024 
and 1.7 per cent in 2025 for the USA. For China, the 
second-largest economy after the USA, the organisation 
expects a growth rate of 4.7 per cent and 4.2 per cent 
for 2024 and 2025 respectively. This is lower than in 
all 25 years before the Covid-19 pandemic. This is due 
to weak consumer demand and structural problems in 
the real estate markets. According to the OECD, head-
line inflation in the G20 countries is expected to fall 
from 6.6 per cent in 2024 to 3.8 per cent in 2025. Core 
inflation in the advanced G20 economies is expected 
to fall to 2.5% in 2024 and 2.1% in 2025.

The economy in the eurozone is lagging behind global 
economic development. According to a flash estimate 
by the European statistical office Eurostat, GDP in the 
eurozone and the EU grew by 0.5 per cent last year. 
This is partly due to the fact that European economies 
are more exposed to the effects of the war in Ukraine. 
The OECD expects growth to be more subdued in the 
short term, partly due to tighter credit conditions in 
the eurozone. In its interim report, the organisation 
predicts GDP growth of 0.6 per cent in the current year 
and 1.3 per cent in 2025. 

The European Commission was also cautious. It low-
ered its original forecast for the eurozone from 1.2 per 
cent for the current year to 0.8 per cent, according 
to a communication from the European Commission 
dated 15 February 2024. The reasons for this are fall-
ing purchasing power, weak foreign demand, tight 
monetary policy and a reduction in fiscal support 
measures. According to European Commissioner for 
Economy Paolo Gentiloni, growth will stabilise in 2025. 
He also expects the European Central Bank’s 2 per 
cent inflation target to be more within reach. While 
the inflation rate in the eurozone was 5.4 per cent last 
year according to Eurostat, the European Commission 
expects a price increase of 2.7 per cent in 2024 and 
2.2 per cent in the coming year.

In Germany, economic output fell by 0.3 per cent last 
year, as reported by the Federal Statistical Office in 
mid-January 2024. This puts Germany at the bottom 
of the list in Europe. According to the corresponding 
press release, ‘Overall economic development faltered 
in Germany in 2023 in an environment that continues 
to be marked by multiple crises’. ‘Despite recent price 
declines, prices remained high at all stages in the 
economic process and put a damper on economic 
growth. Unfavourable financing conditions due to 
rising interest rates and weaker domestic and foreign 
demand also took their toll.’

msg life rethinking insurance
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Economic output in manufacturing (excluding construc-
tion) declined significantly by 2.0 per cent in 2023, 
primarily due to a much lower output in the energy 
supply sector. Manufacturing recorded a decline of 
0.4 per cent. Production and value creation fell again, 
particularly in the energy-intensive industries (chemi-
cals and metals), as these industries were already 
suffering from high energy prices in 2022. Due to high 
construction costs, a shortage of skilled workers and 
increasingly poor financing conditions, the construc-
tion industry only grew by 0.2 per cent. 

Most service sectors were able to expand their eco-
nomic activities and support the economy in the past 
year. Nevertheless, the retail, transport and hospitality 
sector as a whole recorded a decline of 1.0 per cent. 
The subdued global economic momentum and weak 
domestic demand also had an impact on foreign trade, 
emphasises the authority. Imports fell by 3.0 per cent 
last year, while exports fell by 1.8 per cent.

Prices continued to rise over the past year, although 
the rate of increase has slowed somewhat. According 
to the Federal Statistical Office, the average inflation 
rate in 2023 was 5.9 per cent, compared with 6.9 per 
cent in 2022. Food prices rose particularly sharply at 
12.4 per cent. Food prices have risen by around 26 
per cent in the past two years. Energy products grew 
by 5.3 per cent in 2023, compared with almost 30 per 
cent in the same period last year.

In light of the generally weak economy, the German 
government has significantly downgraded its GDP 
forecast for 2024 from 1.3 per cent to 0.2 per cent ac-
cording to the federal government’s Annual Economic 
Report in February 2024. The outlook for 2025 is not 
very encouraging either, with GDP expected to increase 
by just 0.5 per cent. According to Federal Minister for 
Economic Affairs Robert Habeck, the reasons for the 
weak performance are the impact of the war in Ukraine, 
high energy prices, high inflation and rising interest 
rates. According to the minister, Germany is also suf-
fering from structural problems and labour shortages.

In this challenging environment, the German insurance 
industry performed well in the past financial year: ac-
cording to the German Insurance Association (GDV) at 
its annual media conference in January 2024, insurers 
posted a slight increase in premiums across all lines 
of business of 0.6 per cent to 224.7 billion euros in 
2023. In light of falling inflation and rising nominal 
wages, the association expects premium growth of 
3.8 per cent for the current year.

According to the GDV, the life insurance business was 
negatively impacted in 2023 by the difficult macroeco-
nomic situation, the weak development of real wages 
and consumer restraint. This mainly affected single-

premium business, while regular premiums developed 
robustly. Overall, premium income for life insurers fell 
by 5.2 per cent to 92 billion euros. Looking to 2024, 
the GDV is cautiously optimistic: for example, the as-
sociation is expecting a very slight drop in premium 
income of 0.2 per cent to 91.8 billion euros.

The company pension scheme performed less well: ac-
cording to the GDV, revenue fell by 5.7 per cent to 19.1 
billion euros in the past financial year. The number of 
policies fell by 0.1 per cent to 16.5 million. New busi-
ness was even worse for the Riester pension scheme: 
the number of policies plummeted by 68.9 per cent.

In non-life and accident insurance, the association 
recorded an increase in premiums of 6.7 per cent 
to 84.5 billion euros. However, at 12.7%, claims ex-
penses rose significantly faster than premiums. This 
resulted in a loss of around 2.9 billion euros in motor 
insurance. It goes on to say that every euro received 
was offset by expenditure of 1.10 euros. As a result of 
the motor insurance losses, the underwriting profit in 
non-life and accident insurance fell by more than half 
to around 1.5 billion euros. For the current year, the 
GDV is forecasting premium growth of 7.7 per cent for 
the entire segment.

Rising interest rates and high inflation were once 
again key issues in the insurance industry last year. 
In January 2024, the ECB once again left key interest 
rates unchanged at 4.5 percentage points, following a 
turnaround in interest rates in summer 2022 due to the 
rapid rise in inflation. According to the ECB, it is still 
too early to discuss interest rate cuts. The GDV expects 
interest rates to be lowered over the course of 2024.

The rise in interest rates has both positive and negative 
effects for life insurers. It generally improves solvency 
ratios. This is also emphasised by the rating agency 
Assekurata in its Life Insurance Market Outlook 2023 
in June 2023, according to which the solvency ratios 
are often very high. Higher interest rates promise 
higher returns in the investment and reinvestment of 
fixed-income securities and no additional expenses 
for the additional interest reserves. On the contrary: 
Assekurata reports that life insurers are recording the 
first returns from the additional interest reserves. Ac-
cording to the calculations, the volume of additional 
interest reserve funds freed up in 2022 amounted to 
4 billion euros.

However, higher interest rates lead to hidden charges 
in the books of life insurers. In times of lower interest 
rates, the industry invested a large proportion of its 
investments in fixed-income investments with long 
maturities. According to estimates by Assekurata, 
hidden charges totalled some 100 billion euros at 
industry level (as of June 2023).
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Against the backdrop of significantly higher interest 
rates, the German Association of Actuaries (DAV) recom-
mended increasing the projected interest rate for new 
life insurance contracts to 1.0% from 2025 onwards. In 
2022, the projected interest rate was lowered to 0.25 
per cent as a result of the protracted low interest rate 
environment. The GDV welcomes the DAV initiative 
and considers the recommended increase in interest 
rates to be an appropriate response to the general rise 
in interest rates. The decision is made by the Federal 
Ministry of Finance. If the ministry were to follow the 
recommendation, it would be the first increase in the 
projected interest rate in 30 years.

Increasing regulations also shaped the 2023 financial 
year, with the comprehensive sustainability regulations 
being further expanded as part of the EU’s Sustainable 
Finance Action Plan. In June 2023, the European Com-
mission expanded the Taxonomy Regulation that was 
published in 2020. After the European Commission had 
initially only formulated the regulatory technical stan-
dards (RTS) for the first two environmental objectives 
(climate mitigation and adaptation to climate change), 
the technical assessment criteria for the remaining 
four environmental objectives have now also been 
published. At the same time, the range of economic 
activities for the first two environmental objectives 
has been broadened, particularly in the manufactur-
ing and transport sectors. The new delegated acts for 
the EU taxonomy will apply from 1 January 2024. This 
means that all six environmental objectives must be 
disclosed in full in the 2024 financial year.

The implementation of the regulatory framework 
requires significant adjustments and presents the 
financial and insurance industry with major challenges. 
At an industry conference in Frankfurt in November 
2023, the President of the German Federal Financial 
Supervisory Authority (BaFin), Mark Branson, remarked 
that although the intentions behind the taxonomy 
were good, it was not the way to the goal. According 
to Branson, the complexity of regulation, particularly 
in Europe, has reached its limits with this very heavy 
regulatory machinery.

In addition to sustainability regulations, the European 
Commission is pushing ahead with a law to regulate 
artificial intelligence (AI). With the planned Artificial 
Intelligence Act (AI Act), the European Commission 
wants to create the world’s first legal framework for 
the use of AI. After the presidency of the Council of the 
European Union and negotiators from the European 
Parliament reached a provisional agreement on the draft 
regulation in December 2023, the EU member states 
approved the draft at the beginning of February 2024. 
The AI Act is expected to come into force this year. The 
EU’s proposal takes a risk-based approach: for example, 
regulation is linked to the risks posed by the AI system 

in question. The insurance industry criticises the fact 
that certain applications in life and health insurance 
are part of the particularly highly regulated high-risk 
sector. According to the GDV, insurers are faced with 
new obligations even though the existing protection 
regulations are already extremely strict.

In addition, the EU’s Digital Operational Resilience Act 
(DORA) came into force in January 2023. The regula-
tion must be applied after a further two years. The aim 
is to strengthen the digital operational resilience of 
European financial companies. DORA brings together 
the many different pieces of legislation on the secu-
rity of information and communication technologies 
(ICT) into a single piece of legislation. The aim is to 
consolidate and improve ICT requirements across the 
financial sector.

There has been little change in company pension 
schemes in the past financial year. Despite the Ger-
man Act to Strengthen Occupational Pensions (BRSG), 
which was passed back in 2018, there has been no 
major boost in the spread of company pensions. In 
particular, the expectations of the social partner model 
(SPM) have not been met. IG Metall had most recently 
rejected the SPM. The German government now wants 
to improve the framework conditions, as reported 
by the GDV in November 2023. As such, the Federal 
Ministry of Labour is preparing a further package of 
measures. If the company pension scheme no longer 
prevails with these measures, an obligation to provide 
pensions is also under discussion.

In summer 2023, the private pensions focus group set 
up by the federal government presented its recom-
mendations for reforming private pensions. Among 
other things, the focus-group experts propose to allow 
higher-risk products without guarantees, more flexible 
payout models and the preservation of subsidies of 
the Riester pension scheme. The group vetoed the idea 
of a sovereign wealth fund. According to the Federal 
Ministry of Finance, a concrete reform proposal based 
on the recommendations of the focus group will now 
be worked on. The legislative process is expected to 
take place in the course of 2024.

Digitisation remains high on the agenda of insur-
ers. This is also confirmed by the Lünendonk study 
‘Digital Outlook: Insurance’, which was prepared 
in collaboration with the msg Group company msg 
advisors and published in February 2024. According 
to the survey, 72 per cent of the insurers surveyed in 
German-speaking countries are investing heavily in 
the digitisation of their existing core business, while 
65 per cent are also investing in new and disruptive 
business models. This development is also reflected 
in the GDV’s figures: at 5.9 billion euros, insurers’ IT 
investments reached a record high. This is the result 
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of a survey of 2022 carried out by the association in 
January 2024. Insurers are working hard to modernise 
their IT infrastructure. These include the automation 
of business processes, cloud computing, the use of 
artificial intelligence and cyber resilience.

Cloud computing plays a central role as the driver of 
the digitisation of companies. According to the study 
‘Cloud Monitor 2023 Financial Services’ by the audit-
ing firm KPMG, cloud computing has evolved from an 
emerging technology to the standard in the financial 
sector. The vast majority of companies surveyed in 
Germany now rely on cloud solutions. More than 60 
per cent take a hybrid approach featuring public and 
private cloud services. In addition to greater agility, scal-
ability and flexibility, cloud computing offers benefits 
in developing new business models and integrating 
them into platforms and ecosystems.

The insurance industry also focused on the use of 
artificial intelligence in the past financial year. Be it in 
product development, claims processing, migration, 
document analysis, fraud detection, customer com-
munication or customer service, AI-based systems 
and solutions offer a wealth of opportunities along 
the entire value chain. With the help of AI, increasingly 
complex processes can be automated and decision-
making processes can be optimised over the long term. 
This saves time and money. The main purpose of using 
AI is to simplify processes, improve customer service 
and make employees’ work easier.

In Europe, the difficult economic environment with 
rising interest rates and high inflation had a significant 
impact on the life insurance business in some countries. 
According to the statistics European Insurance Overview 
2023, published by the European supervisory authority 
EIOPA in October 2023, gross premium receipts in the 
life segment fell in almost all EU countries in 2022: in 
Sweden, business plummeted by 25 per cent, while 
Portugal recorded a decline of 22 per cent. However, 
revenues also fell by more than 10 per cent in Italy and 
Finland. Increases were recorded by Cyprus, Bulgaria, 
Lithuania and Liechtenstein, amongst others. Detailed 
figures and data on the development of the European 
life insurance industry as a whole were not provided. 
The most recent data published by Insurance Europe, 
the European insurance association, relates to the 
years 2020 and 2021.

In the US, life insurers recorded a 9.2 per cent increase 
in gross premiums to 672 billion dollars in 2022, ac-
cording to the statistics on the German insurance 
industry published by the GDV in September 2023. 
The USA is the world’s largest life insurance market: 
its market share was just under 24 per cent in 2022.

Development of business 

In the German-speaking market, the msg life Group 
is the market leader with the services and products it 
offers for life insurers and pension fund institutions; 
more than half of all leading life insurers in these 
countries are its customers. All of the Group’s research 
and development activities are aimed at continuously 
reinforcing its leading position. With the regulatory 
requirements still changing constantly and the increas-
ingly dynamic variety of products, insurance companies 
are increasingly pursuing a strategy of replacing their 
previous in-house software solutions with standard 
software and standard software platforms with new 
operator models, such as software as a service (SaaS). 

msg life’s products and consulting services are a fixed 
part of the msg Group’s portfolio for the insurance 
industry. And as an associated company in the msg 
Group, msg life is a strategically significant partner 
for its customers and an attractive employer for the 
employees. 

As part of the TRAIL.X (TRustworthy Artificial Intelligence 
in Life Insurance) project, msg life has been working 
with the Ludwig Maximilian University of Munich since 
2021 to automatically transfer actuarial functions from 
a source system to a modern policy administration 
system with the help of AI. This enables life insurers to 
replace old system generations in a significantly more 
affordable and resource-conserving fashion, map their 
core functions with artificial intelligence and integrate 
them into a modern system. Explainable AI (XAI) and 
automated machine learning (AutoML) are two topics 
that play an important role in this context. 

TRAIL.X breaks new technological ground and will 
create a fundamentally new hybrid technology at the 
point where machine learning, software development 
and actuarial mathematics intersect. The work will be 
funded by the Bavarian Ministry of Economic Affairs, 
Regional Development and Energy (StMWi) until the 
end of 2026. The method is already being used suc-
cessfully in ongoing migration projects with existing 
customers. 

Under the purchase agreement dated 15 December 
2023, the Group company msg life central europe 
gmbh acquired a 25.1 per cent stake in Cominia Ak-
tuarielle Services GmbH, Hamburg. This company 
offers actuarial services linked to policy systems in 
German-speaking countries. With this investment, msg 
life will have access to additional resources relating to 
special actuarial expertise, which is currently in high 
demand on the market.
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Business with existing customers in 2023 was char-
acterised by extremely stable, successful projects as 
well as a continuous flow of new contracts. msg life 
expects this trend to continue in 2024. 

The company also achieved numerous sales successes 
in 2023. Of particular note in the German-speaking 
market is the contract from Germany’s second-largest 
life insurer R+V, which has decided to introduce msg.
Life Factory as a central and strategic administration 
platform for the life insurance segment. The Swiss 
subsidiary of Zurich also approved the future use of 
msg.Insurance Suite in an SaaS model. Other new 
orders were placed, for example, by Zurich Group Ger-
many for several components in the area of statutory 
reporting procedures and by W&W for the introduction 
of the complete solution msg.Migration Factory. In 
addition, numerous insurers commissioned msg life 
with the introduction of the digital pension overview 
msg.Pension Data. 

In the Swiss market, which msg life serves with a 
dedicated office, long-standing customer AXA used 
an innovative and unique AI-based migration process 
developed by msg life in the context of taking over its 
legacy portfolio in the reporting period. And msg life has 
received a commitment from two life insurers including, 
as already mentioned, the Swiss subsidiary of Zurich, 
to use msg.Insurance Suite in an SaaS model in future. 

The performance of the US business of msg life, primar-
ily for health and group insurers, was satisfactory in 
2023. The msg life Group company based there, FJA-US, 
Inc., reports continuous development and generally 
strong customer demand for services. 

The range of services offered by msg life there en-
compasses not only software products and technical 
consulting services on all aspects of product and tariff 
structuring, but also operator models that are gener-
ating growing interest in the market. In this context, 
several customers now maintain such an operator 
model, in which the customer pays a fee to use and 
operate the software. 

msg life serves the Spanish and Portuguese markets 
with an office in Spain and its own local office in 
Portugal, which is now also being used as a product 
development unit. msg life recorded positive business 
performance with existing customers there in 2023 
and expects further sales successes in the current 
financial year as well. 

In the reporting period, msg life’s Slovenian unit was 
taken over by the msg Group company msg Plaut with 
effect from 1 January 2023. As the unit has enjoyed 
generally positive development over the past few years, 
its integration into msg Plaut is expected to generate 

considerable synergies in the dynamic Central and 
Eastern European markets, where msg Plaut has been 
active with extensive sales resources for many years. 
At the same time, the Unified Administration Platform 
(UAP) complements msg Plaut’s range of products and 
services, which focus on product-based consulting. 

Both units – msg Plaut and OdaTeam – expect their 
new status to greatly strengthen their sales, create 
advantages in terms of future market cultivation and 
expand their capacity to deliver significantly. For msg 
life, the sale also represents a strategic intensification 
of its product strategy for the cross-segment software 
msg.Insurance Suite. 

As previously reported, there were numerous new 
orders for msg life in 2023 and the company expects 
relevant new business in the 2024 financial year. Busi-
ness with existing customers in connection with the 
software components was also strong. Additionally, 
most of the major projects set out in the corporate 
plan were executed in the reporting period. Like in 
previous years, msg life focused on sales projects 
in well-established markets in particular in the 2023 
financial year. 

As an IT company and service provider in a highly 
regulated market, information security and data pro-
tection play a key role for msg life. Accordingly, the 
information security management system (ISMS) 
was upgraded further during the reporting period. 
The ISMS is a systematic approach to implementing 
information security in order to meet internal and 
external requirements and identify and deal with risks 
in order to achieve business objectives. The scope of 
the certification in accordance with ISO/IEC 27001 
was extended to include additional organisational 
units in msg life in 2023. 

Summarised evaluation of the company’s 
business situation 

2023 was another good financial year for the msg 
life Group with numerous sales successes (with the 
corresponding licensing income) and stable business 
with existing customers. As a result, the targets set at 
the start of the financial year relating to the financial 
performance indicators of Group revenue from its own 
business under the HGB and Group earnings before 
interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) 
under the HGB have been achieved. 

In the reporting period, the msg life Group recorded 
gross Group revenue from its own business under 
German GAAP of 186.4 million euros (previous year: 
173.2 million euros) and Group earnings before inter-
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est, taxes, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) 
under German GAAP of 15.3 million euros (previous 
year: 14.1 million euros). 

The business situation of the company in the 2023 
reporting year can therefore be described as positive 
overall. The foundations exist for positive develop-
ment in 2024 and beyond. Last year’s prognosis in 
the separate financial statements forecast positive net 
results on the same level as in the previous year; as 
the holding company, the individual Group company 
finished the 2023 financial year with net profit of 9.0 
million euros (previous year: 7.4 million euros). This 
development was due to an increase in income from 
profit-pooling contracts (+3.5 million euros higher 
than in 2022). 

Non-financial performance indicators

The msg life Group’s efficiency is reflected not only in 
its commercial indicators, but also in its non-financial 
performance indicators. The most important of these 
in the msg life Group are the issues that concern its 
employees. The relevant disclosures can be found 
in the ‘Employees’ chapter within this condensed 
management report and Group management report. 

Earnings, financial and assets position 

The following disclosures regarding the earnings, finan-
cial and assets position of the Group by 31 December 
2023 are based on the German Commercial Code (HGB).

The Group’s earnings position 

DEVELOPMENT OF TURNOVER  

As at the balance sheet date, the following changes to 
the consolidation group described in the consolidated 
financial statements for the 2022 financial year as at 
31 December 2022 took place:

The former subsidiary msg life odateam d.o.o. was sold 
to msg Plaut AG, Vienna (Austria), and subsequently 
renamed msg Plaut UAP d.o.o. The commercial transi-
tion took place with effect from 1 January 2023. 

The msg life Group’s turnover in the 2023 financial year 
amounted to 179.2 million euros, which is 3.7 million 
euros lower than the figure for the 2022 financial year, 
corresponding to a decline of 2.0 per cent. This slight 
decline was due to projects that, contrary to plans, were 
no longer executed in the reporting period. 

Service turnover decreased slightly by 0.4 million 
euros from 128.8 million euros to 128.4 million euros. 
As at 31 December 2023, service turnover makes up 
71.7 per cent (previous year: 70.4 per cent) of total 

turnover. Product-based turnover overall was down 
by 3.7 million euros to 50.4 million euros (previous 
year: 54.1 million euros). In terms of product-based 
turnover, licensing income came to 14.7 million euros 
in the reporting period (previous year: 19.4 million 
euros), which represents 8.2 per cent of total turnover 
(previous year: 10.6 per cent). Maintenance turnover 
came to 27.5 million euros in 2023 (previous year: 
26.8 million euros) and therefore makes up 15.3 per 
cent of the total turnover (previous year: 14.7 per cent). 

As part of the product-based turnover, the other turn-
over largely consisted of computing centre services in 
2023. It amounted to 8.2 million euros in the financial 
year ended and was higher than in the previous year 
(previous year: 7.9 million euros). 

As for the regional breakdown of turnover, the ag-
gregate figure for Germany in the 2023 financial year 
remained at 156.1 million euros and 23.1 million euros 
in other countries (previous year: 26.8 million euros). 

The turnover of the msg life Group’s American business 
increased by 0.4 million euros to 20.5 million euros in 
2023. Switzerland is the second-strongest market in 
terms of turnover, with turnover in the 2023 financial 
year amounting to 1.4 million euros (previous year: 1.3 
million euros). In Portugal and Spain, the company 
and Spain experienced a slight decrease in sales of 
0.1 million euros to 1.1 million euros. At 0.1 million 
euros, turnover remained stable in the Benelux region. 
Following the sale of the former subsidiary msg life 
odateam d.o.o., the Slovenian market is no longer 
served by msg life. 

The national affiliates in Austria and Slovakia generate 
turnover primarily for other Group companies, so that the 
external turnover they generate is correspondingly low. 

The change in inventories increased by 17.0 million 
euros from -9.7 million euros to 7.3 million euros in 
the financial year, causing the gross revenue of the 
company to increase by 13.2 million euros to 186.4 mil-
lion euros, representing a 7.6 per cent increase. Among 
other factors, this effect is due to a customer project 
being carried out in cooperation with msg systems ag 
in which the resulting gross revenue was 5.8 million 
euros higher than in the previous year. 

DEVELOPMENT OF EARNINGS

In the financial year just ended, just like in the previ-
ous year, no development work for new software was 
capitalised. The item other operating income came 
to 3.0 million euros (previous year: 2.0 million euros). 
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Total costs in the 2023 financial year amounted to 
174.1 million euros (previous year: 161.2 million euros); 
they therefore rose by 12.9 million euros, which cor-
responds to an increase of 8.0 per cent. The largest 
proportion of total costs comprised personnel costs at 
113.5 million euros (previous year: 107.2 million euros), 
which represents a share of 65.2 per cent (previous 
year: 66.5 per cent) relative to the average number of 
1,225 employees (previous year: 1,225 employees). 

At 37.1 million euros (previous year: 31.1 million euros), 
procured services represented a large proportion of 
total costs. This increase of 6.0 million euros is due 
to other services, the majority of which – 7.9 million 
euros – resulted from a project in cooperation with 
msg systems ag in the reporting year. 

Procured services include external freelance staff 
whose costs amounted to 13.6 million euros in the 2023 
financial year (previous year: 13.4 million euros). They 
cover special requirements such as capacity utilisation 
peaks due to new projects and, as such, they are a 
variable element in the total costs. 

As already reported, personnel costs rose to 113.5 million 
euros (previous year: 107.2 million euros). At the same 
time, material expenses rose from 31.1 million euros 
to 37.1 million euros due to an increase in procured 
services. Other operating expenses accounted for 13.5 
per cent of total costs in the 2023 financial year, an 
increase compared with the previous year (increase 
in the previous year: 14.2 per cent), and came to 23.4 
million euros (previous year: 22.9 million euros). As 
in the previous year, the main component of other 
operating expenses was expenses for office space 
(primarily rent), which remained at 7.3 million euros. 

Travel expenses associated with products increased 
slightly year over year, and were 1.6 million euros in 
the 2023 financial year (previous year: 1.2 million 
euros). On the other hand, communication costs de-
creased slightly, falling by 0.2 million euros from 0.9 
million euros to 0.7 million euros. Likewise, consulting, 
financial statement and Supervisory Board expenses 
decreased somewhat by 0.3 million euros to 2.3 mil-
lion euros in the 2023 financial year (previous year: 
2.6 million euros). 

As a result, in the 2023 financial year, the Group gener-
ated earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and 
amortisation (EBITDA) of 15.3 million euros (previous 
year: 14.1 million euros). 

The sum of all depreciation and amortisation decreased 
by 0.4 million euros to 2.1 million euros (previous year: 
2.5 million euros). Depreciation of property, plant and 

equipment amounted to 1.8 million euros (previous 
year: 2.1 million euros). Scheduled amortisation of 
intangible assets remained stable at 0.4 million euros. 

Altogether, the positive operating result (EBIT) in the 
2023 financial year was 13.2 million euros (previous 
year: 11.5 million euros). 

The financial result amounted to 1.6 million euros 
(previous year: –0.1 million euros). The msg life Group 
is completely equity-financed and is not dependent 
on borrowing. 

The Group’s income from ordinary activities improved 
in 2023 by 3.3 million euros, bringing it to 14.8 million 
euros (previous year: 11.5 million euros). This resulted 
in income tax expenses of 2.9 million euros for the 
2023 financial year (previous year: 2.3 million euros). 

After taking into account other taxes, net income for 
the 2023 financial year was 11.8 million euros (previ-
ous year: 9.1 million euros). 

The Group’s financial position

PRINCIPLES AND GOALS OF FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

Financial management is designed to enable the msg 
life Group to have the necessary funds at its disposal 
at all times so that it is capable of taking action in its 
operating activities to deal with volatility of incoming 
orders, fluctuations in customers’ payment behaviour 
and investment needs. In the process, all the significant 
risks to which the msg life Group is potentially exposed 
must be recognised at an early stage and the necessary 
scope for suitable protective measures provided for. 
Within the framework of liquidity management, care 
is taken that sufficient funds and appropriate liquidity 
reserves are freely available at all times. In the financial 
year ended, the msg life Group was able to meet all 
payment obligations in their entirety. 

FINANCING ANALYSIS

The income and operating cash flows of the Group are 
not, on the whole, exposed to any interest rate risk. 
In general, liquid funds are invested for short periods. 
Financial liabilities are short to medium term in nature. 

With regard to the credit risk (default risk), there are 
no significant concentrations on individual customers 
in the Group. Receivables are not insured, primarily 
due to the high credit rating of the customers in the 
insurance sector. 

Due to the invoicing of customers at the end of the 
year, the liquid funds in bank accounts increased 
significantly by 8.7 million euros, reaching 15.6 million 
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euros as at 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: 
6.9 million euros). Cash pooling exists for the German 
companies within the msg life Group. Additionally, 
the Group invested 25.3 million euros in cash in US 
treasury bonds (previous year: 26.7 million euros), in 
order to generate interest income on a part of its exist-
ing cash holdings. Overall, cash and cash equivalents 
increased by 7.3 million euros to 40.9 million euros 
(previous year: 33.6 million euros). 

In the reporting period, msg life generated an opera-
tive cash flow of 12.0 million euros (previous year: -2.2 
million euros). The msg life Group closed the 2023 
financial year with earnings before taxes on income 
(EBT) of 14.8 million euros in total (previous year: 11.5 
million euros). 

Cash flow from investing activities amounted to -1.6 mil-
lion euros (previous year: -9.0 million euros), whereby 
investments in property, plant and equipment, in the 
form of technical equipment, accounted for 2.1 million 
euros and the purchase of US treasury bonds for 0.5 
million euros. 

The cash flow from financing activities amounted to 
-1.7 million euros in the 2023 financial year (previous 
year: 0.0 million euros). This was due entirely to the 
payment of a dividend for the 2022 financial year.

The Group’s assets position

ASSET STRUCTURE ANALYSIS

At 64.4 per cent, the equity ratio of the Group as at 
31 December 2023 has undergone further positive 
development compared to the previous year (previ-
ous year: 61.4 per cent) and equity amounted to 77.6 
million euros (previous year: 68.3 million euros). As at 
31 December 2023, the Group’s total assets are 120.5 
million euros (previous year: 111.3 million euros), which 
represents an increase of 9.2 million euros. 

In the reporting period, current assets increased from 
97.3 million euros to 106.6 million euros. Essentially, 
this development was due to the fact that liquid funds 
were 8.7 million euros higher and trade receivables 
were 9.4 million euros higher as at the reporting date. 
On the other hand, inventories decreased by 7.5 mil-
lion euros from 8.4 million euros to 0.9 million euros, 
which had the opposite effect. 

The net total of the line item ‘Inventories’ has decreased 
as payments received on account and work in progress 
exceeded the payments received on account of customer 
projects as at the reporting date. Due to the chosen 
method of open recognition, the net amount of 0.9 
million euros has been recognised under inventories. 

Fixed assets increased by 0.3 million euros, from 
9.7 million euros in the previous year to 10.0 million 
euros. In the 2023 financial year, property, plant and 
equipment barely changed in value. Overall, intangible 
assets decreased by 0.4 million euros to 0.3 million 
euros as a result of amortisation. Prepaid expenses 
decreased by 0.3 million euros year over year. Before 
they were netted against deferred tax liabilities, the 
deferred tax assets totalled 0.1 million euros (previous 
year: 0.2 million euros). 

Provisions increased by 0.8 million euros to 27.0 mil-
lion euros. Essentially, this change was due to the 
increase in other provisions by 1.2 million euros to 
17.9 million euros. 

All in all, provisions account for 22.4 per cent of the 
balance sheet total, compared with 23.6 per cent in 
the previous year. 

Liabilities increased by 1.9 million euros and totalled 
13.5 million euros. The decrease compared to the previ-
ous year is due to the decrease in trade payables of 
2.2 million euros to 3.2 million euros because of the 
reporting date, a decrease in other liabilities (essentially 
VAT liabilities) of 0.7 million euros and the increase in 
liabilities to affiliated companies by 1.0 million euros 
to 6.1 million euros. Deferred income increased to 2.4 
million euros (previous year: 1.3 million euros) due to 
the reporting date, and was essentially attributable 
to received maintenance fees. 

The Group still has no financial liabilities due to banks 
(neither current nor non-current). All in all, the ratio of 
liabilities to total assets decreased from 13.8 per cent 
in the previous year to 11.2 per cent now. 

The 2023 financial year was in line with expectations. 
This was caused by numerous sales successes with the 
corresponding licensing income and stable business 
with existing customers. The Management Board of 
msg life ag expects the earnings, financial and assets 
position of the company this year to remain at the 
same level as in the previous year. 

Significant events influencing the earnings, 
financial and assets position of msg life ag in 
the annual financial statements pursuant to 
the German Commercial Code (HGB)

EARNINGS POSITION

Compared to the previous year, sales increased by 2.0 
million euros from 35.9 million euros to 37.9 million 
euros. This development was driven by internal sales 
(i.e. sales revenue from companies within the msg life 
Group) which increased by 2.7 million euros. In contrast, 
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external sales decreased by 0.7 million euros. Other 
operating income came to 0.4 million euros (previous 
year: 0.3 million euros). 

Expenses for the procurement of services were 5.0 
million euros higher than in the previous year and 
amounted to 18.0 million euros in the financial year 
ended (previous year: 13.0 million euros). 

At 8.7 million euros (previous year: 7.7 million euros), 
personnel expenses were 1.0 million euros higher 
than the previous year. 

The item of depreciation of property, plant and equip-
ment from the separate financial statements prepared 
in accordance with German GAAP (HGB) increased 
slightly to 0.9 million euros in 2023 (previous year: 
0.6 million euros). 

Other operating expenses, mostly consisting of ad-
ministrative costs with affiliated companies, rent and 
legal and consultancy costs, bookkeeping costs and 
Supervisory Board remuneration, increased by 3.0 
million euros to 24.8 million euros in the financial year 
ended (previous year: 21.8 million euros). As in the 
previous year, this was essentially due to IT expenses 
as a result of the increase in SaaS contracts. 

Under both of its profit transfer agreements, the com-
pany received 18.6 million euros from msg life central 
europe gmbh (previous year: 14.9 million euros) and 
0.4 million euros in income from msg life global gmbh 
(previous year: 0.6 million euros). 

At -0.3 million euros in the 2023 financial year, the 
net interest result of msg life ag deteriorated slightly 
(previous year: -0.1 million euros), and is primarily 
comprised of interest expenses for pension and an-
niversary provisions or accrued interest on IC liabilities 
to affiliated companies. 

Income tax expenses amounted to 0.7 million euros in 
the 2023 financial year (previous year: 0.6 million euros). 

Overall, for the 2023 financial year, msg life ag gener-
ated a net profit under the German Commercial Code 
(HGB) in the amount of 9.0 million euros (previous 
year: 7.4 million euros). 

FINANCIAL POSITION AND ASSETS

Non-current assets increased by 0.3 million euros to 
64.6 million euros (previous year: 64.3 million euros), 
essentially because the company made larger invest-
ments in new hardware. The scheduled depreciation of 
property, plant and equipment had the opposite effect. 
Property, plant and equipment came to 2.3 million 
euros (previous year: 2.0 million euros). 

In the financial year ended, the current assets of msg 
life ag increased by 13.8 million euros, from 42.2 
million euros in the previous year to 56.0 million 
euros. Essentially, this development was due to the 
increase in work in progress, liquid funds as well as 
trade receivables. 

Trade receivables increased by 3.1 million euros to 5.1 
million euros due to the reporting date (previous year: 
2.0 million euros). 

Receivables from affiliated companies increased by 
0.4 million euros to 6.0 million euros due to the re-
porting date (previous year: 5.6 million euros). Due to 
the reporting date, liabilities to affiliated companies 
increased by 2.7 million euros to 11.9 million euros 
(previous year: 9.2 million euros). 

As at the reporting date, cash and cash equivalents 
were 5.1 million euros higher than in the previous year, 
reaching a balance of 8.2 million euros at the end of 
the year (previous year: 3.1 million euros). Based on 
the reporting date, the increase is due to less working 
capital being tied up. The company was completely 
equity-financed in the 2023 financial year (as was the 
case in the previous year) and, as such, there were no 
deferred liabilities to banks. 

Prepaid expenses increased slightly by 0.3 million 
euros year over year. 

Equity amounts to 67.9 million euros (previous year: 
60.7 million euros), which represents an increase of 
7.2 million euros. The net retained profits amounted 
to 13.3 million euros (previous year: 6.1 million euros). 

Liabilities amounted to 51.2 million euros. The in-
crease of 6.1 million euros compared to the previous 
year is due to the increase in payments received on 
account of 5.2 million euros to 36.6 million euros 
and the increase in liabilities to affiliated companies 
of 2.7 million euros to 11.9 million euros. In contrast, 
trade payables decreased by 1.2 million euros to 1.3 
million euros and other liabilities (essentially VAT li-
abilities) decreased by 0.7 million euros because of 
the reporting date. 

Total assets as at 31 December 2023 amounted to 
124.1 million euros (previous year: 109.7 million euros).
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Research and development  

Focus of R&D activities

For msg life, research and development (R&D) serves 
not only to develop and expand standard software 
solutions, but also to extend its consulting exper-
tise. Such expertise manifests itself in the strategic 
development of employee know-how, as well as in 
the further development of software tools that give 
efficient support to the consulting activities. Needless 
to say, all R&D activities are subject to the imperative 
of sustainable cost-efficiency. 

The msg life Group does not conduct open-ended re-
search, but instead focuses on purely target-oriented 
research. Special importance is attached to close 
communication with the market and customers as 
their assessment of the products’ relevance to busi-
ness success is crucial. The msg life Group therefore 
attaches a great deal of importance to its cooperation 
with customers (on the advisory council and in the user 
and operator groups) and partners (AWS, Azure, Google, 
IBM or the msg Group, for example) in relation to its most 
important products. The approaches devised within the 
framework of research are presented, discussed and 
evaluated within the user and operator groups at an 
early stage and, if required, on a cross-product basis. 
The evaluation is conducted with particular regard 
to users’ interest in acquiring the product enhance-
ments. In this way, new releases of standard software 
products are generally partially financed by advance 
orders from some of the customers. 

As there are no user groups that can be accessed for 
the placement of new products or the opening up of 
new markets, early customer models are used which 
reward a customer’s early decision in favour of a new 
product with commercial benefits.

Purchasing R&D expertise

In its capacity as market leader in its core business, 
the msg life Group is usually unable to have recourse 
to ready-made external research findings, with the 
exception of collaborations such as the TRAIL.X proj-
ect. This particularly applies to specialist thematic 
areas in the customers’ sectors. As a sector-specific 
service provider, the company prefers to rely on its own 
research, which builds upon its participation in trade 
conferences, association activities and joint projects 
with partner companies. Trends, too, can usually be 
identified more reliably on the basis of the systematic 
reviewing of customer requirements from projects 
and canvassing situations than on the basis of exter-
nal surveys. Naturally, the qualification level of the 
Group’s employees is updated continuously by means 
of selective (also external) ongoing training activities. 
In the technology sector, msg life makes use of rapidly 
developing standards and non-proprietary technologies 
right through to freely available open-source products. 
The company also safeguards the quality of its own 
technological orientation by maintaining partnerships 
with AWS, Azure, Google, IBM and selected colleges 
and universities. 

R&D expenditure 

The msg life Group’s R&D expenditure totalled 13.821 
million euros in the 2023 financial year (previous year: 
11.078 million euros). Once again, no development 
expenses were capitalised. 
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Employees

On 31 December 2023, the msg life Group had 1,248 
permanent employees including managing directors, 
excluding the employees of the divested subsidiary 
msg life odateam d.o.o. – (31 December 2022: 1,269 
permanent employees). 

After the Covid-19 situation gradually returned to 
normal over the course of 2022, the 2023 financial 
year marked the company’s final transition into a 
post-pandemic ‘new normal’. Working on site in the 
branches and at customers’ premises is now perma-
nently supplemented by an increased proportion of 
time during which employees work remotely from home. 
In the meantime, the employees have further profes-
sionalised distributed work and thus also intensive 
teamwork – without being in the same place together. 
Such a hybrid working model therefore remains an 
integral part of the innovative and future-proof work 
organisation at msg life. 

The company took the various services it offers to sup-
port employees and their families further in 2023, and 
worked systematically on further improvements to the 
field of integrated support for employees’ professional 
and private lives. The priority is to improve employees’ 
family and social lives, promote their health and sup-
port them through personal crises. For msg life, this 
offer is therefore also evidence of a corporate culture 
in which tolerance, respect and diversity, appreciative 
cooperation, collegiality, commitment, sustainability, 
creative freedom and reliability all have their place. 
In this context, the benefits of the employer include, 
in particular, a structured onboarding programme, a 
flexible working time model, individual development 
opportunities, good transport connections, modern 
working environments, hybrid working opportunities, 
a healthy work-life balance and an attractive and 
transparent remuneration model.

In order to find new employees, the company continues 
to offer recruitment opportunities in various job profiles 
and at various career levels. msg life uses the networks 
and expertise of employees within the sector; a recom-
mendation programme has been established and is 
adapted continuously to changing general conditions. 
In addition to its own networks, the Internet remains 
by far the most important medium for achieving the 
company’s recruitment success.

msg life places emphasis on using relevant online 
channels, far-reaching platforms as well as niche job 
markets, and implements its strategies in the fields 
of search engine optimisation and search engine ad-
vertising by using target-group-specific landing pages 

and tailored social media content. This is in addition to 
the ongoing optimisation of job titles, advertisement 
text and advertisement formats, which were further 
developed in 2023 in connection with the joint msg 
insur:it branding.

In the context of its long-term growth long strategy 
and the related strategic increase in personnel, msg 
life was able to increase the number of applications 
dramatically in the reporting period. The company 
received more than 5,700 applications in the report-
ing period. The option to carry out all application 
and onboarding processes in digital formats has 
been made even more professional. Last year’s new 
features include the option of applying via WhatsApp, 
for example. The maturity of the digital application 
processes received and continues to receive excellent 
ratings from applicants on the relevant platforms and 
as direct feedback to the company, which shows that 
msg life is positioning itself as an innovative company 
amongst its competitors on the labour market. 

The option to have time-delayed interviews, in which 
applicants are asked individual interview questions in 
videos and are able to respond with their own recorded 
answers, was expanded and extended further in 2023. 
Over the past year, this innovative format has already 
enabled well over 100 virtual interviews to be conducted.

The company shortens the time it takes for its future em-
ployees to join the company by means of an informative 
onboarding portal, which also ensures that documents 
are provided securely during the recruitment process. 
The aim is to tie new employees to the company even 
before their first day at work, offer them opportunities 
to identify with the company and dispel any concerns 
they may have about it. In the 2023 financial year, the 
onboarding of new employees took place partly remotely 
and digitally and partly on site at the offices. For years, 
msg life has been offering welcome and induction events 
for all new employees during the first six months of 
their employment with the company. In the course of 
these onboarding sessions, the strategic orientation 
of the company is presented, as well as its targets in 
each field of business. In particular, the aim is also to 
give the new colleagues a broad network within the 
entire company as quickly as possible. In 2023, msg 
life once again offered new employees a structured 
onboarding programme to help them get started with 
the company. Innovative online collaboration formats, 
which are now well established, advanced and more 
professional, were used for these purposes, as were 
in-person events at various offices.
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In the interests of ongoing professional training, msg 
life is also continuing to support the extra-occupational 
training course for actuaries at the German actuarial 
association Deutsche Aktuarvereinigung (DAV).

msg life promotes employees as part of its in-house 
talent and potential programmes. Using a structured 
selection process, employees are identified as having 
talent or potential if they are developing very quickly 
and positively and can be expected to undergo ac-
celerated development and be capable of taking on 
an important role in the company in the future. Within 
the programmes, the participants identify their own 
operational or strategic topics, work independently 
on questions and projects and take their results back 
to the company. 

In addition to individual support and professional 
development of the employees, the central goals of 
the programmes, which start on an annual basis, are 
good networking and long-term retention of the talents 
and potential in the company, as well as allowing 
knowledge to be transferred as broadly, quickly and 
pragmatically as possible, in particular with regard to 
innovative topics and new questions. 

The remuneration model used by the company was 
continuously and strategically developed in the financial 
year ended. It focuses on the roles and performance 
of employees, ensures that remuneration continues 
to meet the market standards and serves as a key 
benchmark for structured, individual salary changes.

In 2023, msg life continued to digitise and modularise 
its entire range of qualification courses systemati-
cally. In Qualification Suite, the company now has a 
modern and powerful learning management system 
which bundles all training and qualification topics 
and the associated processes into a single platform. 
This platform offers the ability to manage purchased 
training courses and the company’s own qualification 
content in equal measures, to develop the content 
further and to provide these to the relevant target 
groups. The ability of the system to support multiple 
clients and languages also enables the flexible integra-
tion of additional user groups, such as employees of 
customers and the foreign subsidiaries of the company 
(including their customers). 

Other legal and economic factors

Shareholders’ rights and duties

Shareholders have property and administrative rights. 
The property rights include, in particular, the right to 
participate in profits (section 58, paragraph 4 of the 
German Stock Corporation Act (AktG)) and liquida-
tion proceeds (section 271 of the AktG), as well as 
pre-emption rights to shares in the event of capital 
increases (section 186 of the AktG).

The administrative rights include the right to attend the 
annual general meeting and speak, ask questions, put 
forward motions and exercise voting rights. Sharehold-
ers can assert these rights by initiating, in particular, 
actions for information and rescission.

Each share guarantees one vote at the annual gen-
eral meeting. The annual general meeting elects the 
members of the Supervisory Board and the auditor of 
the financial statements; it decides, in particular, on 
the formal approval of the actions of the members of 
the Management Board and the Supervisory Board, 
alterations to the articles of incorporation, corporate 
action, empowerment to acquire treasury shares and, 

if required, the conducting of a special audit, the 
premature dismissal of members of the Supervisory 
Board and a dissolution of the company.
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Opportunity and risk report  

General

All the following estimations regarding opportuni-
ties and risks were made on the reporting date, 31 
December 2023.

In the type of business it conducts, the msg life Group 
is exposed to a large number of uncertainties which, 
if realised, can affect the Group’s earnings, financial 
and assets position, and that of the company, either 
positively or negatively, or result in msg life falling 
short of or exceeding the targets it has set itself for 
the future development of its business. 

Among the Management Board’s most important tasks 
in the overall management of the Group are, in close 
coordination with the Supervisory Board, laying down 
general conditions and processes of risk manage-
ment for the msg life Group, monitoring the degree 
of compliance with them and, in conjunction with the 
heads of the operating units and the administrative 
departments, regularly analysing the development of 
risks in the respective segments. 

The msg life Group’s risk management system is docu-
mented in a risk manual. One employee in the holding 
company’s Controlling & Risk Management division 
has been appointed risk manager of the Group. and is 
thereby entrusted with submitting the prevailing risk 
management system to regular internal evaluation and 
documenting this process. It is the responsibility of 
the managers of the individual legal units, divisions 
and programmes to continuously monitor and deal 
with the risks that fall within their own remits. 

The foundation of good risk management is the reli-
able and prompt provision of the management with 
relevant information about the course of business. For 
this purpose, msg life has set up a monthly controlling 
and reporting system. 

The early risk detection system of msg life ag proved 
successful in 2023 as well and it was not necessary 
to revisit it. The entire procedure was approved by the 
Risk Board (risk manager and Management Board). 
The employees responsible for this field were trained 
accordingly. As part of the ISO/IEC 27001 certification, 
the management of information security risks was 
expanded further within the overriding central risk 
management system. An external audit performed 
confirmed the adequacy and correctness of msg life’s 
risk management system. 

In accordance with the current version of the guideline, 
monthly reports were prepared on the most significant 
risks and the operative and central divisional managers 
and employees with special positions in terms of risks 
were surveyed three times per year. The Risk Board met 
three times in 2023. At the same time, data protection, 
the company’s internal auditing, IT security, information 
security management and compliance management 
were incorporated into the early risk detection system. 
The corresponding risk report for 2023 was presented 
to the Supervisory Board in February 2024. 

In 2023, the msg life Group’s profile did not change 
significantly with regard to the main types of opportunity 
and risk areas to which it is exposed. Below, individual 
types of risk that are identified as being important are 
explained in greater detail. The specification of these 
risks does not imply that other risks which have not 
been mentioned will not have a significant impact 
on msg life’s earnings, financial and assets position. 

Strategic opportunities 

msg life expects the regulation throughout the insurance 
sector to continue. This regulation, the persistent cost 
pressure and demographic changes in the insurance 
sector are necessitating a great deal of adaptation 
with regard to the solutions currently being used in 
the insurance sector, and are reinforcing the trend 
towards the use of standard software and cross-sector 
platform solutions – such as those offered by msg life. 
At this time, the situation in the insurance market is 
proving to be an opportunity for the company, as dem-
onstrated by the new contracts over the past few years 
and current sales projects. Above all, the demand for 
standard software in conjunction with SaaS offerings 
in the cloud is increasing. 

In addition, the use of AI and AI-based services is 
becoming increasingly important in all areas. This 
presents both opportunities and risks. The applica-
tion and use of these innovative technologies takes 
into account current and future legal regulations. 
National and international developments alike must 
be observed here.

In the past, the Group company FJA-US, Inc. profited 
from the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act 
(Obamacare) which was enacted in 2013 in terms of 
both turnover and earnings. After the Patient Protection 
and Affordable Care Act suffered from a lack of support 
from the Trump administration, the Biden administration 
pressed on with an improvement to the Patient Protec-
tion and Affordable Care Act in late 2021 in the form of 
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the Build Back Better Act. As a result, state healthcare 
programmes such as Medicare, Medicare Advantage 
and Medicaid can be expected to grow further. Thanks 
to its now well-established partnerships with leading 
providers such as Companion Data Services, the msg 
life Group company in the USA can offer end-to-end 
services including claims handling. Additionally, the 
company successfully expanded its related activities 
in the health and group insurance market and further 
diversified its range of services. 

Opportunities from regulatory 
developments

Regulatory adjustments as a result of legislative 
amendments are generating additional demand for 
consulting services and new or modified products 
among existing customers and, if integrated quickly 
into the products on offer, can constitute a crucial 
competitive advantage. Consequently, as described 
in detail in the ‘Research and development’ chapter 
within this condensed management report and Group 
management report, the relevant R&D activities at 
msg life serve, firstly, the further development and 
enhancement of standard software solutions, and 
secondly, the expansion of available expertise on 
consulting topics. 

Product- and service-specific 
opportunities

In addition, msg life’s employees are crucial to the 
company’s innovative power and the customers’ value 
added – and are therefore instrumental in the growth 
and profitability of the msg life Group as a whole. 
More information about the future opportunities be-
ing generated by msg life’s employees can be found 
in the ‘Employees’ chapter within this condensed 
management report and Group management report. 

Risk assessment 

The following risks are listed in descending order 
based on their estimated probability of occurrence and 
impacts. Additionally, unless indicated otherwise, the 
following disclosures concern all the fields of business 
and legal units. 

Project and product risks

The main potential source of risk in the course of 
operating activity lies in the calculation of the com-
plex projects and in their organisational, functional, 
technical and commercial handling. These risks are 
controlled and monitored by means of the Group-wide 
project and project risk management standards; a 
standardised process model minimises risks even 
further. The risk nevertheless remains that projects 

cannot be realised profitably for the msg life Group 
because costs exceed the agreed budget, deadlines 
cannot be met or the services rendered fail to comply 
with the agreed functional specifications or the required 
quality, and the msg life Group will therefore have to 
grant a discount or pay compensation. The overall risk 
profile of all ongoing projects did not increase in 2023. 
The existing risks of individual projects have been ap-
propriately taken into account for 2024. The cumulative 
occurrence in multiple projects could, however, lead 
to negative effects. 

Like all software products, the msg life Group’s products 
can have defects whose elimination under guarantee 
increases costs and thereby influences the profit margin 
or even leads to compensation claims against the msg 
life Group. The msg life companies generally assume the 
warranty which is customary in the industry. As far as 
possible, liability obligations are limited contractually 
to the legal minimum and are secured with appropriate 
liability insurance policies. It can nevertheless not be 
entirely ruled out that contractually agreed limitations 
on liability will be regarded as invalid and the existing 
insurance cover will be available to an insufficient 
extent or not at all – even if this is improbable. 

The msg life Group also uses software from external 
suppliers in its own software products. This third-
party software can contain defects that might have an 
adverse effect on the functional capability of the msg 
life Group’s own products. Problems in the execution 
of projects and software defects that can occur in the 
operation of software produced by msg life can do 
lasting damage to the reputation of the msg life Group 
and thereby have a substantial impact on the future 
course of business. 

Personnel risks

msg life’s success depends crucially on the skills, 
qualifications and engagement of its employees. 
Certain employees in key positions are particularly 
important in this respect. If msg life is unable to get 
these employees to commit themselves to the com-
pany or to recruit qualified and skilled employees 
and develop them further on a continuous basis, msg 
life’s success can suffer significant adverse effects 
due to the resultant loss of expertise. In addition, an 
excessive burden on the company’s own employees 
could necessitate the deployment of expensive ex-
ternal capacities if the risk of deadline commitments 
in project development is to be averted. This applies 
particularly when the likely demographic trends are 
taken into consideration. In connection with this, 
msg life could be affected particularly by the decline 
in graduate numbers, the resultant competition to 
recruit them and the increasing costs this will lead to.
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msg life counters this risk with an extensive set of 
measures. A continuous exchange of views with the em-
ployees on all factors affecting their work environment 
at standardised interviews with a facility for qualified 
feedback, internal training to prevent monopolies of 
knowledge and skills, on-the-job graduate training 
and the recruitment of suitable people through all of 
the usual market channels are just a few examples 
of these. In addition, the leadership guidelines for 
managers are designed to strengthen the employees’ 
identification with the company. 

Economic risks

The general economic trend affects the behaviour 
of potential customers as far as their investment in 
IT infrastructure and their expenditure on ongoing 
management consulting are concerned. An economic 
downturn could reduce the volume of the market on 
which msg life has trained its sights. Any capacity 
adjustment measures which are regarded as neces-
sary to counter such developments might take effect 
only after a time lag and would lead to restructuring 
costs. With the volume-related remuneration models, 
a delay in portfolio growth caused by the general 
economic situation could result in a postponement 
of the planned diminution in fixed costs. 

In the event of demand falling as a consequence of 
economic crises, msg life assumes that this would 
take effect rather more slowly among existing product 
customers because, in that segment, loyalty to the solu-
tion deployed ensures that any requisite adjustments 
will also be ordered. With regard to new customers, 
postponements of planned investments can lead to 
reductions in turnover, especially in product business. 

All aforementioned economic risks also apply to the 
Russian invasion of Ukraine in February 2022 and 
the resulting economic sanctions against Russia. As 
in the 2023 financial year, no effects on the course 
of business of the msg life Group are currently being 
observed in this context in 2024. 

Competition risks

With its solutions, msg life is a leading sector-based 
service provider for life insurers and pension funds in 
Europe and in particular for health and group insurers 
in the United States. This has led to a concentration and 
therefore an increase in market development risks. At 
the same time, this strengthens the company’s market 
position. msg life will therefore attempt to persevere 
with its existing strategy, including in its current product 
segments and regional markets, and to cover entire 
value chains and product ranges with its solutions. In 

this way, it hopes to achieve a decisive competitive 
advantage on the market, particularly vis-à-vis new 
competitors with aggressive pricing policies. 

IT risks 

As with all comparable companies, the functional ca-
pacity of the business processes is also dependent on 
the availability and secure operational capacity of the 
IT infrastructure. External events such as fire, lengthy 
power or network failures, operational errors or acts of 
sabotage can, among other things, render the IT infra-
structure inoperable. The msg life systems, and also 
those of its customers, can succumb to viruses which 
damage and incapacitate the systems or the network. 
Internal or external attacks can damage, distort or 
delete information and can result in confidential data 
and information being accessed. The probability and 
the extent of damage caused by viruses and hackers, 
by unauthorised persons accessing the IT system and 
by confidential information being accessed cannot be 
estimated to the fullest extent. 

Recovery expenses, loss of production and recourse 
claims from customers and third parties as a result of 
system breakdowns or attacks could cause significant 
damage which, in turn, could influence earnings and 
endanger the future of the company. 

Since IT security is strategically significant, extensive 
technical and organisational steps are, as far as pos-
sible, taken within the framework of the IT security 
concept. These steps include restrictive authorisation 
and access controls, regular backups and penetration 
tests and adequate contractual arrangements with ser-
vice providers for outsourced systems and telephone 
and other communication links. In order to provide 
protection against penetration by viruses, the latest 
software available on the market is deployed as a mat-
ter of principle. Access restrictions prevent potentially 
infected software from being installed on the msg life 
computer network without authorisation. Defined 
security requirements limit access by unauthorised 
persons and ensure that data is protected. Financial 
loss is limited by appropriate insurance policies.

The risks associated with the use of cloud technolo-
gies to outsource services are counteracted with the 
information security management system (ISMS) 
and certification in accordance with ISO/IEC 27001. 
Numerous guidelines have been drawn up to ensure 
compliance with security standards. Moreover, ad-
ditional capacities have been built up in the field of 
security management. This also addresses the stricter 
compliance and security requirements of legislators 
and customers.
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When developing and deploying SaaS solutions, a great 
deal of attention is paid to information security and 
data protection. To this end, a DOR working group was 
set up in autumn 2023, in which the relevant issues 
specified by legislators will be discussed together with 
clients and risks addressed in the future. 

Appropriate contracts have been drawn up to exclude 
liability risks that could arise from SaaS solutions 
offered by msg life.

Risks from takeovers 

msg life is currently interested in expanding its market 
position in German-speaking countries and internation-
ally, primarily through organic growth This can also be 
supported in parallel by strategic acquisitions. The 
success of an acquisition is dependent upon whether 
the acquired company can be successfully integrated 
in the Group structure and the desired synergy effects 
can be generated. 

Liquidity risks

Managing liquidity risk includes ensuring that the com-
pany always has sufficient liquid funds or credit lines 
available to enable it to meet its payment obligations 
and hedge against risks resulting from fluctuations in 
payment flows. Among other things, the payment ob-
ligations consist of interest and redemption payments. 
Liquidity risk also includes the risk of not being able to 
obtain sufficient liquidity at the expected terms when 
required (refinancing risk).

Under the management mechanisms now in place, 
the daily holdings of cash and cash equivalents and 
the monthly rolling financial plans are monitored by 
the company’s management. The purpose of liquid-
ity management is to finance predictable deficits at 
standard market terms under normal market conditions. 
This means that losses from both borrowing capital at 
excessive interest rates as well as investing surplus 
funds at interest rates below the market level should 
be avoided.

Because of the company’s current holdings of cash 
and cash equivalents, msg life ag considers the li-
quidity risk to be low at present. The msg life Group 
has sufficient liquid funds to enable it to service its 
financial liabilities. 

As at the balance sheet date, the company had loan 
agreements with three banks totalling 7.500 million 
euros. As at the reporting date, the loans of 1.863 
million euros had been used exclusively to serve as 
collateral for security deposits. 

Risk reporting in respect of the use of 
financial instruments 

Objective and methods of financial risk 
management: 

Financial risk management is designed to put the msg 
life Group in a position to recognise all the significant 
risks to which it is potentially exposed at an early stage 
and to take appropriate countermeasures. 

The potential risks to the msg life Group associated 
with financial instruments consist notably of liquidity 
risks – which can result in a company being unable 
to raise the funds needed to settle its financial li-
abilities – currency risks resulting from its activities in 
various currency areas, default risks arising from the 
non-fulfilment of contractual obligations by contracting 
parties and interest rate risks caused by movements 
in the market interest rate leading to a change in the 
fair value of a financial instrument and interest-related 
cash flow risks, which lead to a change in the future 
cash flows of a financial instrument due to changes 
in market interest rates.

Organisation: 

The company has organised its risk management 
process along clear, functional lines. Specific tasks 
have been assigned to the individual organisational 
units involved in the risk management process. More 
information is available under ‘General’ in this section. 

Credit risks (default risks):

Credit risk arises from deteriorating economic circum-
stances of the company’s debtors or counterparties. 
Firstly, this results in a risk of partial or complete default 
on contractually agreed payments and, secondly, in a 
reduction in the value of financial instruments due to 
a poorer credit rating.

Credit risk management is responsible for the opera-
tional measurement and management of credit risks. Its 
functions include, in particular, monitoring credit risk 
positions and exposure and analysis of credit ratings.

In terms of credit risk, the Group is only exposed to risk 
in relation to trade receivables. Adequate valuation 
allowances have been made to cover the estimated 
default risk. As the credit rating of clients in the insur-
ance industry is generally good, the receivables are 
not insured. The maximum default risk is in principle 
equivalent to the nominal values less the valuation 
allowances. There is no other loan collateral and 
there are no other risk-mitigating agreements (such 
as guarantees, land charges or pledges) in place. Us-
age reservations exist until payment is complete. For 
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invoiced receivables, the net balance of additions to 
and reversals of valuation allowances was 75,000 euros 
(previous year: 20,000 euros). On each effective date, 
trade receivables do not include any carrying amounts 
for which terms have been renegotiated and which 
would otherwise be overdue. 

With regard to the analysis of trade receivables which 
are overdue but not impaired as at the end of the 
reporting period, the reader is referred to section IV 
‘Notes on the statement of financial position’, number 3 
‘Trade receivables’ in the notes. 

There are no default risks in relation to cash and cash 
equivalents. These are invested at banks with good 
ratings.

There are no significant default risks in relation to 
other financial assets.

Liquidity risks: 

Managing liquidity risk includes ensuring that the com-
pany always has sufficient liquid funds or credit lines 
available to enable it to meet its payment obligations 
and hedge against risks resulting from fluctuations in 
payment flows. Among other things, the payment ob-
ligations consist of interest and redemption payments. 
Liquidity risk also includes the risk of not being able to 
obtain sufficient liquidity at the expected terms when 
required (refinancing risk).

Under the management mechanisms now in place, 
the daily holdings of cash and cash equivalents and 
the monthly rolling financial plans are monitored by 
the company’s management. The purpose of liquid-
ity management is to finance predictable deficits at 
standard market terms under normal market conditions. 
This means that losses from both borrowing capital at 
excessive interest rates as well as investing surplus 
funds at interest rates below the market level should 
be avoided.

Because of the company’s large holdings of cash and 
cash equivalents, the msg life Group considers the 
liquidity risk to be low at present. The msg life Group 
has sufficient liquid funds to enable it to service its 
financial liabilities. 

In addition, as at the reporting date, there are credit 
lines with banks amounting to 7.5 million euros, of 
which 1.863 million euros had been used exclusively 
to serve as collateral for security deposits by the 
reporting date. 

In the 2023 financial year and in the previous year, no 
income from debt waivers was realised. 

Market risks: 

Market risks result from changes in market prices. 
These cause the fair values of financial instruments or 
future cash flows relating to them to fluctuate. Market 
risks encompass interest rate, currency and other price 
risks (such as commodity prices and share prices).

Price risks: 

Due to the current rates of inflation, the prices of 
subcontractors and freelancers are expected to rise 
along with the costs of hardware, software and licences. 
Where these increases were known or foreseeable, 
they have been factored into the budget for 2024. Risk 
mitigation measures have also been implemented in 
the form of price increases and indexation. 

Interest rate risks: 

Interest rate risks result from a fluctuation in the fair 
value or future cash flows of a financial instrument 
due to changes in market interest rates.

The income and operating cash flows of the Group are 
not, on the whole, exposed to any interest rate risk. 
There are no significant interest rate risks in relation to 
its financial assets. The investment of cash and cash 
equivalents is done on a short-term basis and under-
goes the normal market fluctuations. On the condition 
that all other parameters remained unchanged, the 
company assumes that interest rates were ten base 
points lower (higher) in the reporting period. In this 
case, the net result for 2023 would have been 9,000 
euros lower (higher) (previous year: 8,000 euros lower 
(higher)) and the equity components would have been 
9,000 euros lower (higher) (previous year: 8,000 euros 
lower (higher)).

In the reporting period as well as the previous year, 
there were no (interest-bearing) financial liabilities 
with variable interest rates. 

Currency risks: 

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash 
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 
of changes in exchange rates.

For the most part, the operating companies of the 
Group carry out their business activities in their re-
spective countries. The Group – with the exception of 
the United States – is therefore not exposed to any 
significant currency risks in its operating business. A 
total of 88 per cent of its revenues are generated in 
eurozone countries (previous year: 88 per cent), and 
the remainder in Switzerland and the United States. 
The currency risk on the asset side in relation to trade 
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receivables comes from receivables not denominated 
in euros, accounting for 14 per cent (previous year: 
14 per cent). In the case of trade payables, currency 
risks occur in relation to the 5 per cent of liabilities 
not denominated in euros (previous year: 4 per cent). 
Differences arising from currency conversion of finan-
cial statements from a foreign currency to the Group 
currency for the creation of consolidated financial 
statements do not affect currency risk because the 
respective changes in foreign currency are recognised 
under equity with no effect on income. 

Information on risk concentration 
(concentration risks): 

The company does not have any dependencies on the 
procurement side. On the sales side, there tend to be 
concentrations of risk due to the geographic distribution 
of sales. For example, Germany accounts for an 87.1 
per cent share of sales (previous year: 85.4 per cent).

Within trade receivables, there is no significant con-
centration on individual customers. In the year under 
review, the ten largest customers accounted for a 59.0 
per cent share of sales (previous year: 51.2 per cent) 
and a 50.6 per cent share of trade receivables (previ-
ous year: 21.9 per cent). 

With regard to cash and cash equivalents, there is no 
concentration on individual institutions. 

Overall assessment of the opportunities 
and risks 

msg life believes that, in light of the likelihood of their 
occurrence and their effects, the risks described above 
do not represent a threat to the company’s continued 
existence either individually or as a whole. Senior 
management remains confident that the Group’s 
earning power constitutes a solid basis for the future 
development of its business and will generate the re-
sources that will be necessary for the Group to pursue 
the opportunities that present themselves. In view 
of its leading position on the market, its functional 
and technological innovative power, its committed 
employees and its processes for the early identifica-
tion of risks, msg life is confident that, in 2024, it will 
again be able to deal successfully with the challenges 
that arise from the aforementioned risks. 
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Forecast

Market and competition 

With around 1,250 employees at sites in Germany, the 
Netherlands, Austria, Switzerland, Slovakia, Portugal, 
Spain and the United States, msg life is very well posi-
tioned in the field of software and consulting services 
for insurance companies and pension fund institutions. 
The company has good market opportunities and a 
promising competitive position given its extensive 
digitised offering for life insurance in Europe and, in 
particular, for health and group insurance companies 
in the USA. 

With regard to its strategy of continued internationali-
sation designed to open up new insurance markets, 
the company has entered into partnerships with msg 
global solutions ag, AWS, Azure, Google, IBM and 
others. The goal is to significantly increase the com-
petitiveness of international insurance companies 
through a fully digitised end-to-end solution, thereby 
securing their future. 

In the past, the strategic presence of msg life in each 
foreign market was a key success factor when it came 
to attracting new customers. Additionally, Group com-
panies consistently put the solutions implemented for 
one region at the disposal of other Group companies in 
other countries – which can advance the international 
development of msg life as a service provider for its 
customers. Besides the aforementioned partnerships, 
the objective in 2024 is to press ahead with major 
sales projects, especially in the established foreign 
markets, as in the 2023 financial year. 

The Austrian market, where msg life has enjoyed 
 numerous sales successes in recent years, is a corner-
stone of its international activities. The placement and 
further development of the consulting policy for the 
German-language markets and the marketing of msg 
life products in the countries of Central and Eastern 
Europe is carried out from Vienna. msg life is also pres-
ent in these markets with its subsidiary in Slovakia. 

In the Swiss market, too, msg life sees good prospects 
for the further expansion of its business and is repre-
sented with its own offices and by various well-known 
life insurers. An innovative, AI-based and previously 
unique migration solution developed by msg life was 
used by its long-standing customer AXA in the reporting 
period in the context of the acquisition of the legacy 
policy. Two life insurers have also made commitments 
regarding the future use of msg.Insurance Suite in an 
SaaS model.

The Iberian Peninsula, where msg life has offices in 
Portugal and Spain, is another highly interesting market 
in terms of sales. msg also uses the office in Portugal 
as a successful product development unit. 

In the US market, a localised version of msg life’s 
portfolio of European life insurance products is to 
be deployed as an integrated solution in connection 
with its specific US products. msg life continues to 
enjoy steady growth in the various insurance sectors 
in the US market and intends to exploit the potential 
for business that this represents. In addition to the 
implementation and integration of specific software 
products, the range of services offered by msg life 
encompasses a variety of consulting services in con-
nection with product and tariff modelling, for example, 
as well as operator models – which are generating 
growing interest in the market. 

The target group of the msg life Group company there 
is health and group insurers and, in future, will also 
include life insurers on the basis of the US prod-
uct policy. The expansion and diversification of the 
company’s own range of solutions and partnerships 
with specialised service providers are being used 
to unlock new customer groups. Now that the Biden 
administration has built on the Patient Protection 
and Affordable Care Act, msg life expects the state 
healthcare programmes to grow further along with 
the sales opportunities this provides. 

Following a strong 2023 financial year, msg life is 
registering a high level of demand for solutions in 
the first quarter of the ongoing 2024 financial year – 
from insurance companies in Germany and other 
countries in equal measure. In this context, msg life 
also expects to see further regulation throughout the 
financial services sector. Be it the implementation of 
the EU Sustainable Finance Action Plan, the account-
ing rules of IFRS 17, the Taxonomy Regulation, the 
Sustainable Finance Disclosure Regulation, the new 
VAIT or the planned regulatory projects in connection 
with the AI Act or DORA, the ongoing and still-looming 
implementation of numerous regulatory requirements 
necessitates comprehensive changes to the solutions 
which are currently used and ties up vast amounts of 
insurers’ resources. This means that the use of versatile, 
cost-effective standard software remains attractive 
throughout the insurance industry. 

Consequently, the German-speaking market will remain 
very challenging for insurance companies this year 
and probably in the years to come. Other challenges 
include the current changes in interest rates, the 
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ongoing trend towards internationalisation and con-
solidation and the efforts to reduce costs and increase 
efficiency. This means that insurance companies see a 
clear correlation between modern and flexible IT and 
success in business. 

Despite persistently difficult general conditions, pri-
vate life insurance cover remains indispensable in 
Germany in view of the demographic trend and the 
necessity of covering against biometric risks. In this 
context, almost all insurers are striving to enhance 
their existing product ranges and develop new, inno-
vative ones – this goes for all existing product groups, 
control layers and legal forms. The companies’ start-
ing situations and the pressure on them to innovate 
vary and are consequently bringing about a variety of 
innovations. The focus is on products that tick more 
than one box at the same time: products that satisfy 
the desire of policyholders for security, returns and 
flexibility, meet the needs of the insurer in terms of 
more efficiency and profitability and comply with the 
regulatory requirements at the same time. 

In terms of conventional capital accumulation prod-
ucts, modifications of the guarantees are dominant, 
for example through the use of current calculation 
guidelines or by dispensing with the annual interest 
guarantee. There is still a great deal of action on the 
market with biometric products and capital-forming 
products that use financial instruments: dynamic 
hybrid products have become the standard now and 
there is a continuous flow of innovative products in 
addition to them which allow, for example, investment 
in funds or the purchasing of options on the basis of 
traditional basic cover. 

Given the current challenges, micro-service-oriented 
architectures designed to quickly support modified and 
digital business models and high system versatility 
for the rapid introduction of innovative products are 
factors crucial to the success of insurance companies. 
The platform economy continues to play a key role in 
the insurance industry: numerous insurers are now 
using platforms and ecosystems to provide digital 
products and services beyond what had previously 
been their core business. These, in turn, will create 
new opportunities to create value.

Likewise, the subject of AI is becoming increasingly 
important. The use of AI (and automated machine 
learning – AutoML) not only generates efficiency gains 
through automation, but also professionally motivated, 
new opportunities. 

msg life is addressing this issue with its TRAIL.X project, 
in which it is developing a process together with the 
Ludwig Maximilian University of Munich that auto-
matically transfers actuarial functions from a source 

system to a modern policy administration system with 
the help of AI. This enables life insurers to replace old 
system generations in a significantly more affordable 
and resource-conserving fashion, map their core func-
tions with AI and integrate them into a modern system. 

For larger insurance companies, the acquisition of 
closed insurance contract portfolios that are no longer 
available for sale (‘run-off’ portfolios) from mainly 
smaller insurance companies remains an important 
factor. This enables the latter to achieve positive effects 
for their books, and buyers can generate significant 
economies of scale and cost synergies. Here, too, 
modern asset management with modern and powerful 
IT systems plays a decisive role in the more efficient 
management of contracts.

The Covid-19 pandemic has once again greatly ac-
celerated the digital transformation of the economy 
and society. Today, digitisation is one of the most 
significant challenges facing the German insurance 
industry, and the business processes it affects will 
allow for the ever-greater integration of systems across 
divisions, segments and corporate boundaries. The 
digital transformation makes it increasingly possible 
to tap the potential of standardised and automated 
processes. Fully automated processes lead to enormous 
gains with regard to efficiency as well as significantly 
lower costs. The subjects of customer centricity and 
individualisation, industrialisation and automation, 
analytics and data effectiveness, and standardisation 
and integration are at the heart of the digitisation trend. 
Insurers are increasingly committed to cloud solutions 
with which IT capacities can be adapted to meet the 
level of demand in a flexible manner. 

Digitisation makes it possible to position modern 
insurance products and services via new channels 
or integrate them into new sales and partnership 
platforms, and even to realise new methods of col-
laborating with a variety of partners. This all requires 
insurers to make comprehensive modifications to their 
IT landscapes in order to incorporate such technology 
and platforms – and msg life is taking it into account 
as it develops its own range of products and services. 
The company already has SaaS and cloud-based solu-
tions to support insurers with the digitisation process, 
thanks in no small part to its strategic collaboration 
with major cloud providers such as Amazon (AWS), 
Microsoft (Azure), Google and IBM. 

Due to these developments, msg life anticipates that 
insurance companies will show a general interest in 
the software and consulting solutions it will be offer-
ing in 2024.
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Further development of products and 
services 

msg life is pressing ahead with the further technical 
and functional optimisation and completion of its 
product range in the fields of life insurance and pen-
sions. The necessary investments for this are being 
kept at a normal level for a software company in 2024. 

Continuous delivery, an important strategic element, 
will continue to be developed in the current year in 
order to further accelerate and economically optimise 
the development process with and for customers. 

The full convergence of the components of msg.Insur-
ance Suite, the central, common insurance platform 
of the msg Group, and the sales-related collaboration 
taking place in this context remain key aspects of the 
product strategy. msg.Insurance Suite is a holistic 
industrial standard for all sectors of the insurance 
industry and is therefore a unique overall solution 
on the market. 

The development of the policy management system 
msg.Life Factory and its components on the basis of 
innovative, cloud-native architecture remains a core 
project in terms of products. In 2024, msg life will 
earmark approximately 11,250 person-days in devel-
opment capacity for this and to further support the 
convergence of the components of msg.Life Factory 
into msg.Insurance Suite. 

In connection with msg.Insurance Suite, msg life is 
still experiencing strong market demand with regard 
to migration. The company is therefore continuously 
honing its own expertise in the migration of entire 

platforms and is successfully focusing on the further 
acceleration of migration projects through AI-based 
innovative approaches.

In its consulting business, msg life relies on its unique 
selling point of being able to transfer tried-and-tested 
solutions from the msg life product area even to non-
product customers more cost-effectively than any of 
its competitors. 

Performance-related forecast 

With regard to the economic sanctions in connection 
with the Russian invasion of Ukraine in February 2022, 
msg life still does not expect any material impact on 
the operating or economic development of the com-
pany – including with regard to the development of 
its business with new and existing customers and its 
project business in the 2024 financial year so far. The 
same applies to the Covid-19 pandemic, which has 
now come to an end. 

In the current 2024 financial year, msg life expects 
Group earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation 
of property, plant and equipment and amortisation 
of intangible assets (EBITDA) of between 15.0 and 
20.0 million euros (previous year: 15.3 million euros) 
and gross Group revenue from its own business of 
between 195.0 and 211.0 million euros (previous year: 
186.4 million euros) in accordance with German GAAP. 

As the holding company, the individual Group com-
pany expects a positive result under HGB to match 
the previous year in the 2024 financial year (previous 
year: 9.0 million euros).

Leinfelden-Echterdingen, 18 April 2024
msg life ag

DR ANDREA VAN AUBEL
Chief Executive Officer

FRANCESCO CARGNEL
Member of the Management Board

ROBERT HESS
Member of the Management Board

MILENKO RADIC
Member of the Management Board

DR WOLF WIEDMANN
Member of the Management Board
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Independent auditor’s report

msg life ag, Leinfelden-Echterdingen

Audit opinions

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of msg life ag and its sub-
sidiaries (the Group), consisting of the consolidated statement of financial position 
as at 31 December 2023, the consolidated income statement, the consolidated 
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the 
financial year from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023, as well as the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements including the presentation of accounting and 
valuation methods. Additionally, we have audited the condensed management 
report and Group management report of msg life ag for the financial year from 1 
January 2023 to 31 December 2023. In accordance with the statutory regulations in 
Germany, we did not audit the content of the disclosure relating to the proportion 
of women in the section entitled ‘Management and monitoring’ in the condensed 
management report and Group management report.

In our opinion, on the basis of the knowledge obtained in the audit:

 — the consolidated financial statements comply, in all material respects, with 
the requirements of German commercial law and, in compliance with German 
GAAP, give a true and fair view of the assets and financial position of the Group 
as at 31 December 2023 and of its earnings position for the financial year from 
1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023, and

 — the accompanying condensed management report and Group management 
report as a whole provide an appropriate view of the Group’s position. In all 
material respects, the condensed management report and Group management 
report are consistent with the consolidated financial statements, comply with 
the German legal requirements and appropriately present the opportunities 
and risks of future development. Our opinion on the management report does 
not apply to the content of the aforementioned disclosures.

Pursuant to Section 322 (3) sentence 1 HGB, we declare that our audit has not led 
to any reservations relating to the legal compliance of the consolidated financial 
statements, the condensed management report or the Group management report.
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Basis for the opinions

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements, condensed 
management report and Group management report in accordance with Section 
317 HGB with consideration for the German Generally Accepted Standards on 
Auditing as promulgated by the Institute of Public Auditors in Germany (IDW). Our 
responsibilities under those requirements and principles are further described in 
the section entitled ‘Responsibility of the auditor for the audit of the consolidated 
financial statements, condensed management report and Group management report’ 
in our auditor’s report. We are independent of the Group entities in accordance 
with the requirements of German commercial and professional law and we have 
fulfilled our other German professional responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements. We believe that the evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinions on the consolidated financial state-
ments and on the condensed management report and Group management report.

Other information

The legal representatives and the Supervisory Board are responsible for the other 
information. The other information comprises the remaining parts of the annual 
report with the exceptions of the consolidated financial statements, the audited 
condensed management report and Group management report – excluding the 
disclosure relating to the proportion of women in the section entitled ‘Manage-
ment and monitoring’ – as well as our auditor’s report.

Our opinions on the consolidated financial statements, condensed manage-
ment report and Group management report do not cover the other information, 
and consequently we do not express an opinion or any other form of assurance 
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit, our responsibility is to read the aforementioned 
other information and, in so doing, to consider whether the other information:

 — is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements, con-
densed management report and Group management report or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit, or

 — otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

Responsibility of the legal representatives and Supervisory Board for the 
consolidated financial statements, condensed management report and Group 
management report

The legal representatives are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated 
financial statements that comply, in all material respects, with German GAAP, and 
that the consolidated financial statements, in compliance with these requirements, 
give a true and fair view of the assets, financial and earnings position of the Group. 
In addition, the legal representatives are responsible for such internal controls as 
they have deemed necessary in line with German GAAP to enable the preparation 
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement due 
to fraud (i.e. manipulation of accounts and misappropriation of assets) or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the legal representatives 
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
They also have the responsibility for disclosing, as applicable, matters related to 
going concern. In addition, they are responsible for financial reporting based on 
the going concern basis of accounting unless there is an intention to liquidate the 
company or to cease operations, or there is no realistic alternative but to do so.
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Furthermore, the legal representatives are responsible for the preparation of 
the condensed management report and Group management report that, as a 
whole, provide an appropriate view of the Group’s position and are, in all mate-
rial respects, consistent with the consolidated financial statements, comply with 
German legal requirements, and appropriately present the opportunities and risks 
of future development. In addition, the legal representatives are responsible for 
such precautions and measures (systems) as they deem necessary to enable the 
preparation of a condensed management report and Group management report 
that are consistent with the applicable German legal requirements, and to be able 
to provide sufficient appropriate evidence for the assertions in the condensed 
management report and Group management report.

Responsibility of the auditor for the audit of the consolidated financial 
statements, condensed management report and Group management report

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated 
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement due to fraud 
or error, and whether the condensed management report and Group management 
report as a whole provide an appropriate view of the Group’s position and, in all 
material respects, are consistent with the consolidated financial statements and 
the knowledge obtained in the audit, comply with the German legal requirements 
and appropriately present the opportunities and risks of future development, as 
well as to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinions on the consolidated 
financial statements and on the condensed management report and Group man-
agement report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with Section 317 HGB and with consideration for 
the German Generally Accepted Standards on Auditing as promulgated by the IDW 
will always detect a material misstatement. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these consolidated financial statements and the condensed management 
report and Group management report.

We exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

 — Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement in the consolidated 
financial statements, condensed management report and Group management 
report due to fraud or error, plan and perform audit procedures in response 
to those risks and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinions. The risk that material misstatements resulting 
from fraudulent actions are not discovered outweighs the risk that material 
misstatements resulting from errors are not discovered, because fraudulent 
actions can involve collusion, fabrications, intentional incompleteness, er-
roneous statements and the invalidation of internal controls.

 — Obtain an understanding of internal controls relevant to the audit of the 
consolidated financial statements and of precautions and measures (sys-
tems) relevant to the audit of the condensed management report and Group 
management report in order to plan audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of these systems.

 — Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used by the legal repre-
sentatives and the reasonableness of estimates made by the legal representa-
tives and related disclosures. 
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 — Conclude on the appropriateness of the legal representatives’ use of the go-
ing concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, 
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may 
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw at-
tention in the auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements, condensed management report and Group management 
report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinions. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group 
to cease to be able to continue as a going concern.

 — Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated 
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated 
financial statements present the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view 
of the assets, financial and earnings position of the Group in compliance 
with German GAAP. 

 — Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial informa-
tion of the entities or business activities within the Group to express opinions 
on the consolidated financial statements and on the condensed management 
report and Group management report. We are responsible for the direction, 
supervision and performance of the audit of the consolidated financial state-
ments. We are solely responsible for our opinions. 

 — Evaluate the consistency of the condensed management report and Group 
management report with the consolidated financial statements, their conformity 
with the law and the view of the Group’s position they provide.

 — Perform audit procedures on the prospective disclosures presented by the legal 
representatives in the condensed management report and Group management 
report. On the basis of sufficient appropriate audit evidence we evaluate, in 
particular, the significant assumptions used by the legal representatives as 
a basis for the prospective information and evaluate the proper derivation 
of the prospective information from these assumptions. We do not express 
a separate opinion on the prospective information and on the assumptions 
used as a basis. There is a substantial unavoidable risk that future events will 
differ materially from the prospective information.

We communicate with the persons in charge of the audit regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit find-
ings, including any significant deficiencies in the internal control system that we 
identify during our audit.

Frankfurt am Main, 18 April 2024

Baker Tilly GmbH & Co. KG  
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft 
(Düsseldorf)

MARKUS GRÖTECKE
— Auditor —

CHRISTIAN ROOS
— Auditor —
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